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ABN: 39 563 851 304
dfes.wa.gov.au

Emergency Service Complex  /  20 Stockton Bend Cockburn Central WA 6164  /  GPO Box P1174, PERTH WA 6844
T: +61 8 9395 9300  /  F: +61 8 9395 9384  /  E: dfes@dfes.wa.gov.au

 

 
 

The Hon Francis Logan MLA 
Minister for Emergency Services

Dumas House  
    2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH  WA 6005

Dear Minister,

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit 
the Annual Report of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2020, for your information and presentation to Parliament.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the  
Financial Management Act 2006 as well as the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998,  
the Fire Brigades Act 1942 and the Bush Fires Act 1954.

Sincerely,

D Klemm AFSM 
Accountable Authority 
9 September 2020

Letter of Compliance
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bushfires. The Council will ensure all stakeholders have a voice 
in bushfire management and prevention. It provides a platform 
for sharing knowledge and practical experience to improve 
bushfire management outcomes for all WA communities.

The Council met twice in the past year. Areas of discussion 
included the State Bushfire Management Policy, the proposed 
consolidated Emergency Services Act and the Royal 
Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements.

Improving Service Delivery
DFES continues its work delivering infrastructure, equipment, 
and response vehicles where they are needed most. We have 
completed minor refurbishments and/or restorations at 24 
locations, and a further 33 major refurbishments, new builds, 
or facility extensions. Building has commenced on two new 
career fire stations in Cockburn and Kensington. A new multi-
purpose facility in Collie was also announced. This facility will 
house a Level 3 Incident Control Centre, provide emergency 
driver training and commission new firefighting appliances to 
be built in Collie from 2021.

The Operational Fleet Project concluded at the end of the 
financial year with four new vehicle types designed and 
built. This has resulted in 40 new vehicles to better support 
emergency services response across the State. Throughout 
the coming year, the remaining fleet streams will continue 
their design and development phases.

Also delivered in 2019–2020 were two new marine rescue 
vessels to protect Western Australians and save lives on the 
water. Another seven vessels have been refitted to improve 
their capability.

New Strategic Plan and Volunteer Hub
The strengthening of partnerships between our emergency 
services, harnessing the expertise and knowledge of 
volunteers and personnel remains a personal priority.

Following an extensive consultation process with volunteers 
and staff across the State, we developed and launched the 
new Strategic Plan 2020–24 and a refined vision and purpose. 
The new statements, together with our updated values 
represent how we collaborate to protect WA.

The Strategic Plan recognises three pillars — WA Communities, 
Our People, and Emergency Management —  with key 
objectives and outcomes that show us the way forward.

Another achievement was the launch of the Volunteer Hub in 
October 2019. The online platform provides more streamlined 
access to resources and information for volunteers. Across 
the organisation we are identifying and implementing new 
initiatives and creating opportunities to improve our support 
to our 26,600 volunteers.

I would like to acknowledge and thank all emergency services 
volunteers and staff who support, protect and empower the 
WA community. No matter the challenge, we rise to it, and I 
look forward to working alongside you in the year ahead.

 

Commissioner Darren Klemm AFSM 
Fire and Emergency Services

Commissioner’s Foreword
This has been a year of significant development and extraordinary challenges for the 
Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES). I am extremely proud of our staff  
and volunteer’s efforts as we continue to deliver emergency services in collaboration  
with the community and State Government.

Unprecedented Challenges
Australia had one of the most challenging summers on record 
this year, with significant bushfires in New South Wales, 
Queensland, Victoria, South Australia and of course, Western 
Australia. We deployed 553 personnel to support bushfire 
suppression efforts interstate — the largest contingent of 
support in our history. Twenty-two teams were sent to bolster 
operational efforts from October to February and included 
volunteers from the Bush Fire Service (BFS), State Emergency 
Service (SES), Volunteer Fire and Emergency Services (VFES), 
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service (VFRS) and career staff.

More than 3.5 million hectares was burned across WA. 
Large bushfires threatened communities in Yanchep, Collie, 
Katanning and the Stirling Ranges National Park. Additionally, 
a complex of fires around Norseman in January prompted 
multi-agency efforts. The community’s willingness to heed 
warnings — combined with excellent response efforts from 
firefighters and our emergency services partners — resulted 
in the protection of many lives and properties.

Destructive weather and subsequent flooding from Tropical 
Cyclones Blake and Damien impacted our northern regions. 
Our staff and volunteers supported local communities,  
from preparation through to recovery.

From early March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic required 
adjustments to the ways we work, to ensure continued safety 
of the community and each other. We responded quickly with 
new risk-management strategies to ensure continued delivery 
of our expert services, and interim business changes to meet 
our operational and corporate obligations.

Through the pandemic, our people worked tirelessly to 
collaborate with State Government partners, and provide 
support across WA. We deployed more than 25 staff to the 
State Health Incident Control Centre to share their knowledge 
and experience coordinating large-scale hazard response.

More than 680 volunteers across WA from our BFS, SES, VFRS, 
VFES and Marine Rescue WA supported the WA Police Force 
(WA Police) in various logistic roles.

We also deployed Urban Search and Rescue staff to provide 
support to the Australian Medical Assistance Team and the 
Western Australian Medical Assistance Team across WA, 
around the country, and overseas.

Bushfire Mitigation and Management
We continue to focus on the mitigation of bushfire risk  
and improved collaboration between bushfire management 
agencies across the State. This supports the community to  
be better prepared for bushfires.

The Rural Fire Division has had great success with the Bushfire 
Risk Management Program. Under the program, the Mitigation 
Activity Fund allocated $7.8 million to local governments for 
bushfire risk treatment activities. An additional $1.5 million 
has contributed to the employment of Bushfire Risk Planning 
Coordinators, and development of Bushfire Risk Management 
Plans. A further contribution of $4.6 million is helping mitigation 
works on unallocated crown land and unmanaged reserves 
across WA.

The Bushfire Centre of Excellence (BCoE) became operational in 
July 2019, with staff working from the temporary facility in the 
Pinjarra Heritage Train Centre. Construction has commenced 
on the new, purpose-built facility, with completion anticipated 
for late 2020. 

The BCoE has released a suite of training products, enabling 
facilitators and emergency services personnel to strengthen 
their knowledge and capability in bushfire management.

The State Bushfire Advisory Council was established to foster 
greater collaboration between agencies involved in managing 
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10,041
volunteers  

attended incidents

9.5 million
litres of fire suppresant  

dropped by aircraft

684
other rescues

508
planning proposal referrals  

from local government

2,769
lives saved through  

annual blood donations

520
national medals 

awarded

3,898
rescues with  

medical assistance

$7.89  
million

provided to local government  
for bushfire mitigation activities

1,976
hours spent on  

emergency rescue  
helicopter missions

8,772
total fires

10,898
Triple Zero calls

2,667
road crash rescues

952
health and safety  
hazards reported

101.6 million
social media impressions

73
total fire ban days declared

811
health and safety  

consultations

198,738
social media followers

2,856
other fires 1,384

long service medals awarded

28,850
total incidents

994
hazardous situations

406
new buildings inspected

2,804
staff and volunteers 

completed health and  
safety training

1,336
structural fires

755
bushfire mitigation  

treatments completed  
by local government

1,657
incident response vehicles

980
homes saved

4,580
bushfires

3,489
Emergency WA  

warnings issued

Our Year
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Our Year (Continued)

Support for our frontline volunteers
In 2020, we introduced a strategy to refit or replace end-of-life 
Marine Rescue WA vessels within its fleet. The strategy:

 • identifies and schedules vessels due for refit or 
replacement.  Vessels are refit after five and 10 years of 
service and replaced after 15 years

 • identifies preferred contractors complete vessel refits or 
replacement.

 • standardises the equipment on board
 • significantly reduces the time for vessel refit or 

replacement.

During 2019-20, two vessels were replaced, five refitted and 
five towing vehicles were replaced at a cost of $1.7 million.

During the same period, our fleet appliance program team 
worked at ensuring that all firefighting appliances were built 
to Australian Standards, accommodated community needs 
and reflected the changing environment. Built in consultation 
with end users as well as in collaboration with local 
governments, volunteers and wide range of contractors, we 
are able to help communities fight emergencies in a safer way 
with reliable resources.

In 2019-20, 42 new appliances were delivered to volunteer 
brigades across the State.

Specialist support across the globe
Every year as part of the international emergency services 
community, we send our specialist staff and volunteers where 
they are needed to assist containing bushfires and in the 
aftermath of floods or earthquakes. 

Between 28 October 2019 and 9 February 2020, we deployed 
553 staff and volunteers to New South Wales (NSW) and 
Queensland (QLD) to assist with the fire suppression efforts 
during their significant bushfires.

An agreement for DFES to support the Department of Health’s 
Western Australian Medical Assistance Teams (WAMAT) has 
been in place for a number of years. This year, our people were 
deployed to Samoa during December 2019 and January 2020 
to assist AUSMAT respond to and contain a measles outbreak. 
During the outbreak, 2.85% of the population was infected and 
87% of the deaths were children under five. 

Since the rise of the COVID-19 global pandemic, specialist 
Logisticians from the Urban Search and Rescue (USAR) branch 
have worked tirelessly to assist WAMAT’s efforts to help contain 
and reduce the spread of the virus. Primarily, their focus has been 
the repatriation of Australians returning from China and Japan, 
and managing international tourists and workers visiting Perth. 

Between February 2020 and June 2020, the USAR teams have 
completed more than 3,488 [1],[2] operational hours assisting 
the Australian Medical Assistance Teams (AUSMAT) including 
deployment to Victoria to assist with the ongoing situation in 
their aged care facilities.

Deployments of our staff and volunteers include:

 • NSW and Qld, 28 October 2019 - 9 February 2020. 553 staff 
and volunteers were deployed to assist with bushfire 
suppression efforts.

 • Samoa, December 2019 - January 2020. Two USAR staff 
assisted AUSMAT respond to and contain a measles 
outbreak.

 • Howard Springs, Darwin 5 February to 6 March 2020. 
As COVID-19 advanced, six USAR staff assisted AUSMAT 
repatriate Australians from Wuhan and Japan including 
quarantining while one team member travelled to China to 
support the repatriation efforts.

 • Artania/Vasco Da Gama cruise ships 27-30 March 2020. 
Ten USAR staff assisted transfer passengers from the two 
ships to Perth Airport or Rottnest Island for quarantining. 50 
passengers diagnosed with Covid-19 were transferred to the 
Joondalup Health Campus and the Novatel Hotel.

 • Artania cruise ship 30 March – 28 April 2020. Four USAR staff 
assisted with the isolation of crew members who remained 
on board while docked at Fremantle. Several crew members 
tested positive and were transferred to alternate sites.

 • Halls Creek 3-27 April 2020. One USAR staff was deployed 
to Halls Creek to assist the hospital including driving the 
ambulance with a St John Special Operations Paramedic.

 • Rottnest Island Quarantine. 29 April – 14 May 2020. Three 
USAR staff assisted quarantining Australians returning from 
South Africa.

 • Al Kuwait Livestock Carrier 27 May – 12 June 2020. Six USAR 
staff deployed to assist when the ship arrived with several 
crew members diagnosed with COVID-19.

 • State Health Incident Coordination Centre – Since 22 March 
2020. USAR staff continue to provide specialist advice on 
decontamination.

During all these deployments, no USAR staff have contracted 
COVID-19.

Establishing the Koolinup 
Emergency Services Centre
Through the Royalties for Regions, the State Government 
provided $13.4 million to establish a multi-purpose facility in 
Collie. The new Collie facility supports the State Government’s 
commitment to ‘sharing prosperity’ through ‘regional 
prosperity’ and the delivery of ‘stronger regional economies’. 

Recognising the cultural significance associated with the 
local rivers in Collie, the facility has been officially named the 
Koolinup Emergency Services Centre which means place to 
swim.

The purpose built facility is in response to a change in WA 
climatic conditions with increased overlap of northern and 
southern bushfire seasons. The facility will provide:

 • emergency driving training for volunteers and staff from 
across the State

 • regional fleet maintenance and management
 • quality assurance and final inspection of new fleet 

products built in Collie
 • ICT and radio communications frontline service support
 • 12 new jobs to support facility-based capabilities.
 • the State’s first purpose-built Level 3 Incident Control 

Centre.

Bushfire mitigation update
Bushfire mitigation, including planned burns, is an important 
tool to help keep WA communities safe from the threat of 
bushfire.

A focus of DFES, through the Rural Fire Division, is working 
with stakeholders and the community to reduce fuel loads to 
protect human life, property, biodiversity and to reduce carbon 
emissions.

The State Government’s investment in bushfire management 
and mitigation includes, $35 million mitigation funding, $15 
million funding through the Mitigation Activity Fund (MAF) and 
$15 million for the Bushfire Risk Management Program (BRMP) 
to help local governments identify bushfire risk.

To date, 56 local governments are involved in our BRMP 
planning process, and 40 of these local governments have 
their BRMP Plans endorsed by the Department. The completion 
of more than 6,800 mitigation treatments has reduced fuel 
loads,  decreasing the potential impact of fire on property and 
life. 

More than $14.3 million from the MAF has delivered more 
than 1,800 bushfire treatments to help protect communities. 
These include mulching/parkland clearing, chemical spraying, 
slashing, planned burning, fire-break maintenance and 
widening and creating water fill-up points.

Through our extensive work with the Kimberley Land Council, 
Traditional Owners and others in north west WA, planned 
burns across almost 20% of the state is completed.  We will 
continue to work closely with Aboriginal communities to draw 
on their experiences and traditional land practices to enhance 
bushfire management.

Traditional Fire Program
The State Government’s significant investment in bushfire 
management and mitigation includes the Bushfire Centre of 
Excellence (BCoE) and the Traditional Fire Program.

 The Traditional Fire Program explores cultural protocols and 
connection with the land. It aims to support communities 
developing traditional fire management skills, knowledge and 
experience.

The BCoE’s programs support our ongoing work with 
Traditional Custodians, land managers, and local communities 
to better understand the role, application and uses of 
traditional fire methods.

Members of the local Bindjareb community in Pinjarra will 
trial the innovative course bringing both traditional and 
contemporary techniques together to create adaptable 
bushfire and land management practices. 

[1] Based on 10-hour days, equating to 348 operational days.

[2] Excludes time spent in isolation when returned to WA.
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Our Year (Continued)

Timeline of 2019-20 deployments
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Event October 2019 November 2019 December 2019 January 2020 February 2020 March 2020 April 2020 May 2020 June 2020

NSW and QLD bushfires 
(28 Oct 2019 – 9 Feb 2020)

Assist NSW and Qld in bushfire response efforts

Samoa Measles Deployment 
(Dec 2019 – Jan 2020)

Assist AUSMAT respond to and contain  
a measles outbreak

Howard Springs, Darwin 
(5 Feb – 6 Mar 2020)

Assist AUSMAT 
repatriate Australians 
from Wuhan and 
Japan

State Health Incident Control Centre 
(22 Mar – 19 Jun 2020)

Providing specialist advice on decontamination

Artania and Vasco De Gama cruise ships 
Disembarkation 
(27 – 30 Mar 2020)

Transfer passengers 
to Perth Airport or 
Rottnest Island for 
quarantining

Artania cruise ship passenger Disembarkation 
(30 Mar – 28 Apr 2020)

Isolation of Artania crew members at 
Fremantle

Halls Creek Hospital 
(3 – 27 Apr 2020)

Assist WAMAT with 
recorded cases of 
COVID-19

Rottnest Island Quarantine 
(29 Apr – 14 May)

Support WAMAT quarantine on Rottnest Island 
of 200 Australians repatriated from South 
Africa

Al Kuwait Livestock Carrier 
(27 May – 12 Jun)

Support WAMAT manage known COVID-19 
cases on the Al Kuwait livestock carrier
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Corporate 
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Learning and DevelopmentCountry Operations

Organisational Chart
as at 30 June 2020

Operations Strategy and  
Emergency Management

Legal, Policy and Compliance

Executive

Metropolitan Operations

SEMC Business Unit

Resilience and RecoveryOperations Capability

Risk, Capability and Analysis

Strategy and Governance

Minister for  
Emergency Services

Fire and Emergency  
Services Commissioner

State Emergency  
Management Committee

Denotes a member of the Corporate Executive

Bushfire Centre of Excellence

Corporate Services

Asset Management

Business Services 
(Chief Finance Officer)

Professional Standards

Bushfire Risk Management

Human Resources  
and Safety Services Bushfire Technical Services

Information and  
Communications Technology Land Use Planning

Media and Corporate 
Communications

Office of Bushfire  
Risk Management

Rural Fire Division

State Bushfire  
Advisory Council

Volunteer Advisory Committees
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Commissioner Darren Klemm AFSM 
Fire and Emergency Services

Commissioner Darren Klemm was 
appointed 18 September 2017. He joined 
the WA Fire Brigades Board in 1993 and 
has more than 29 years’ experience 
in fire and emergency services, 
including three years with the South 
Australian Metropolitan Fire Service. 

He has been involved in strategic 
operations at State and Incident 
Controller level during significant 
emergencies such as the Waroona, 
O’Sullivan and Toodyay bushfires and 
Tropical Cyclones Olwyn and Veronica.

Commissioner Klemm is a member 
of a number of national emergency 
management committees and holds  
a Graduate Certificate in Management 
from the Australian Institute of 
Management. He was awarded the 
Australian Fire Service Medal in 
2017 and in 2019, he was awarded 
Leader of the Year by the Institute 
of Public Administration Australia.

Deputy Commissioner Craig Waters 
Operations Command

Deputy Commissioner Craig Waters 
has more than 26 years’ experience in 
emergency services. He is responsible 
for all operational matters across DFES 
including firefighting, natural hazards, 
marine services, aviation, special 
operations and state operations.

Deputy Commissioner Waters is a 
certified Level 3 Incident Controller, and 
has overseen many complex, large scale 
emergencies spanning major structure 
fires, cyclones and numerous bushfires 
including Parkerville, Bullsbrook, 
Northcliffe, Esperance and Waroona.

In 2006 Deputy Commissioner 
Waters spent 12 months working 
with the WA Police Counter Terrorism 
Coordination unit to assist with a 
major national investigation and 
consequence management exercise.

He holds a Graduate Certificate 
and Diploma in Fire Investigation, 
a Graduate Certificate in Applied 
Management (Policing and Emergency 
Services) and was promoted to 
Deputy Commissioner in 2019.

Deputy Commissioner  
Mal Cronstedt AFSM 
Strategy and Emergency  
Management Command

Deputy Commissioner Mal Cronstedt 
has more than 41 years’ experience in 
fire and emergency services, having 
commenced as a volunteer in 1976 
before joining the WA Bush Fires Board 
in 1982. 

He progressed through the ranks in 
a variety of operational and support 
roles both in WA and NSW, gaining 
considerable experience in rural and 
urban environments, before becoming 
Chief Superintendent Country South 
when DFES was created in 2012. 

Deputy Commissioner Cronstedt holds a 
Master of Business Administration from 
Curtin University, a Graduate Diploma in 
Disaster Management from Swinburne 
University and a Bachelor of Arts from 
Edith Cowan University. He is also a 
graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, the Institution of 
Fire Engineers and the Australia and 
New Zealand School of Government’s 
Executive Fellows Program.

Corporate Executive Team

Executive Director 
Mr Richard Burnell MBA, BBus 
Corporate Services Command

Mr Richard Burnell commenced at 
DFES in 2015 as Director Information 
and Communications Technology 
(ICT), before taking on the role 
of Executive Director in 2018.

He has more than 40 years’ experience 
in a range of private sector industries 
in Australia and overseas managing 
accounting and finance, commercial 
and cost management, business 
re-organisation and process re-
engineering and project delivery 
of enterprise-wide programs.

During his tenure in fire and 
emergency services, Mr Burnell has 
managed complex and wide ranging 
ICT reform. He has ensured DFES’ ICT 
systems and services meet business 
needs, leveraging the Government’s 
Digital Transformation Strategy.

Mr Burnell holds a Master of 
Business Administration from the 
University of New England, New 
South Wales and a Bachelor of 
Business from the WA Institute of 
Technology (now Curtin University).

Executive Director Mr Murray Carter 
Rural Fire Division

Mr Murray Carter has extensive 
experience in rural fire management. 
He joined the former Forests 
Department as a 17 year old cadet 
and spent 13 years with Conservation 
and Land Management conducting 
prescribed burns and fighting large 
scale bushfires in country WA.

Mr Carter served as Chief Executive 
Officer, Lord Howe Island before 
joining the WA public service with 
the Department of Parks and Wildlife 
and DFES, leading key reforms 
in rural fire management.

He serves on various boards and 
committees, is the current Chair of 
the Australasian Fire and Emergency 
Services Authorities Council Rural 
and Land Management Group and 
Board Director of the International 
Association of Wildland Fire.

Chief Finance Officer  
Mrs Georgina Camarda BCom CPA 
Corporate Services Command

Mrs Georgina Camarda joined 
DFES in 2012 in the dual roles of 
Director of Business Services 
and Chief Finance Officer.

Mrs Camarda has more than 24 years’ 
experience in financial management. 
She has 17 years’ experience with 
the Office of the Auditor General 
specialising in Assurance Services and 
undertook a 12 month secondment 
to the Office of the Auditor General 
of British Columbia in 2012. She has 
also completed 12 months service 
with the Australian Army Reserve.

Mrs Camarda’s Special Commendation 
for WA’s Institute of Public Administration 
Australia Finance Practitioner of the Year 
in 2018 is recognition of her commitment 
to her profession and technical expertise.

She holds a Bachelor of Commerce from 
the University of Western Australia and 
is a Certified Practising Accountant.
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Our Purpose and Vision
As a purposeful and values led organisation, in 2019 we undertook an extensive 
consultative check-in with our people on our vision, mission and values.

Though an online survey as well as 25 workshops held across the State, we were 
able to capture the thoughts and ideas from a wide cross section of volunteers  
and staff on what was important and meaningful for the future of DFES.

Our vision and purpose give us our direction, our values guide the way we act.

This vision incorporates communities, emergency services and businesses. It’s about 
local action and State-level coordination and support. Working together signifies 
connectedness and shared responsibility. A safer State refers to a safer state of 
mind, of play, and a safer WA.

Our Purpose

To achieve a safer Western Australia by 
enabling and protecting the community 
before, during and after emergencies.

Our Vision

All Western Australians working 
together for a safer State.

Our Values
Teamwork
We are strongest when we work 
together. We value the skills and 
attributes each person brings 
and the role they play.

Commitment
We are dedicated to getting 
the best outcomes for our 
community. We go above and 
beyond to be prepared for the 
unexpected.

Trust
We rely on each other.  
We always treat each other  
with respect and act with 
integrity.

Leadership
We encourage people to lead 
through action and attitude. We 
nurture leadership in ourselves 
and our communities.
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Our Locations

Region DFES offices / 
stations

Volunteer brigades,  
groups or units 
(includes BFS)

Paid  
personnel

Total 
volunteers

Goldfields Midlands 3 133 40 3,313

Great Southern 3 132 41 5,041

Kimberley 2 22 14 484

Lower South West 1 121 18 4,817

Midwest Gascoyne 3 109 44 2,439

Perth Metropolitan 33 100 1,541 4,597

Pilbara 2 26 15 580

South West 2 49 62 1,815

Upper Great Southern 1 101 11 4,365

PILBARA

MIDWEST GASCOYNE

GOLDFIELDS MIDLANDS

GREAT SOUTHERN

UPPER GREAT 
SOUTHERN

LOWER SOUTH WEST 

SOUTH WEST 

KIMBERLEY

Kununurra

Kalgoorlie

Geraldton

Carnarvon

Karratha

Broome

Port Hedland

Bunbury
Narrogin

Manjimup
Albany

Esperance

Northam

Joondalup

Belmont

Armadale

Cockburn

Kwinana

Perth 
Metropolitan 
Area

DFES
Emergency

Services
Complex
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Organisational Profile
Working together for a safer State
Our people in executive, technical and administrative roles support local 
governments in administering, training and funding the Bush Fire Service, 
Emergency Services Cadets and junior programs. They also support WA Police  
in road crash rescue, search and rescue, and marine rescue incidents. 

1,701
Members

2,349
Members

1,030
Members

1,977
Members

19,515
Members

Volunteer

VO
LU

N
TE

ER

 FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVI CES

W

ESTERN AUSTRALIA

1,184
Members

Career

Service Brigades,  
groups or units Members Juniors and cadets

Career Fire and Rescue Service 29 1,184 -

Volunteer Bush Fire Service 561 19,515 283

State Emergency Service 65 1,977 71

Volunteer Fire and Emergency Services 37 1,030 11

Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service 94 2,349 228

Marine Rescue WA 39 1,701 29

Public Service Officers and Technicians - 507 -

Other DFES Volunteers 2 15 -

Total staff and volunteers 827 28,278 622

Staff and volunteers

28,278

VO
LU

N
TE

ER

 FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVI CES

W

ESTERN AUSTRALIA

Cover and Contents Corporate StructureExecutive Summary Financial Statements and Performance Indicators Compliance and Other Disclosures Appendices



2928  |  DFES Annual Report 2019/20

Administered Legislation and Changes to Written Law
DFES was established on 1 November 2012 and operates under the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

Administered Legislation
DFES assists the Minister in the administration of the  
following Acts along with associated subsidiary legislation:

 • Bush Fires Act 1954
 • Emergency Services Levy Act 2002
 • Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998
 • Fire Brigades Act 1942

We also provide support to the State Emergency Management 
Committee, which is responsible for assisting the Minister 
to administer the Emergency Management Act 2005 and 
Emergency Management Regulations 2006. 

Changes to our Legislation
 • The Fire Brigades Amendment Regulations 2019, published 

in the Government Gazette on 16 August 2019, establishes a 
more effective and efficient disciplinary process for members 
and officers of permanent fire brigades and aligns conduct 
and discipline requirements more closely with the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994.

 • The Bush Fires Amendment Regulations 2019, published in 
the Government Gazette on 5 November 2019, allow certain 
prescribed activities to be undertaken under strict conditions 
during a total fire ban without the need for an exemption 
from the Minister for Emergency Services.

 • The Emergency Management Amendment Regulations 2020 
were published in the Government Gazette on 27 March 2020, 
prescribing:

 ◦ ‘hostile act’ as a new hazard with the Commissioner  
of Police as the hazard management agency

 ◦ ‘heatwave’ as a hazard with the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Department of Health as the hazard 
management agency

 ◦ ‘marine transport emergency’ and ‘spillage/release/
escape of oil’ hazards with the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Department of Transport as the hazard 
management agency

 ◦ ‘human epidemic’ and ‘spillage/release/escape of a 
biological substance’ hazards with the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Department of Health as the hazard 
management agency

 ◦ Department of Fire and Emergency Services as a 
combat agency for the emergency management 
activity of fire suppression.

 • The Emergency Management Amendment (COVID-19 
Response) Act 2020 was assented to on 3 April 2020 to 
strengthen the State’s capacity to respond to emergencies 
and remove barriers in existing laws impeding the COVID-19 
response.

 • The Emergency Management Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 
2020 was published in the Government Gazette on 3 April 2020 
to enhance the State’s ability to enforce compliance with 
directions given under the Emergency Management Act 2005.

Responsibilities
Hazard Management Agency
The Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner is the Hazard 
Management Agency in WA for:

 • cyclone
 • flood
 • storm
 • tsunami
 • structural collapse
 • hazardous materials incident
 • earthquake
 • fire.

Cyclone Flood Storm Tsunami

Fire
Hazardous  

materials incident
Structural 
collapse Earthquake

The Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner is the Hazard Management Agency in WA for the above hazards.
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Shared responsibilities with other agencies

Road Crash Rescue
We work closely with WA Police and St John Ambulance  
in responding to road crash rescues (RCR) across the State.  
Our career and volunteer Fire and Rescue Services attend  
RCR incidents to extricate casualties, provide first aid,  
manage hazardous material spillages and potential fire 
hazards.

Weather Warnings
We share a responsibility with the Bureau of Meteorology 
(BoM) to ensure WA communities are informed and 
supported to prepare for severe weather emergencies.  
We have a close working relationship with BoM underpinned 
by a Memorandum of Understanding. A meteorologist is 
based in the State Operations Centre within the Emergency 
Services Complex, Cockburn, and provides current weather 
conditions and forecasts for incident managers.

State Operations Air Desk
We have joint management responsibility with the Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions for the State’s 
aerial suppression assets. The State Operations Air Desk 
operates from the Emergency Services Complex, Cockburn.  
It is jointly resourced to carry out the tasks of dispatch and 
coordination of fire surveillance and suppression aircraft.

Arson Reduction
We work closely with WA Police and the Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions to 
reduce arson. A joint agency campaign encourages 
the community — particularly in areas vulnerable to 
bushfire — to be vigilant against arsonists and report 
suspicious behaviour. Our Extinguish Arson Database is 
used by our Fire Investigation Officers and WA Police to 
identify trends and monitor suspicious fire activity.

Search and Rescue
WA Police has management responsibility for the State’s air, 
land and marine search and rescue operations. Our SES units 
and Marine Rescue WA provide search and rescue teams and 
local area knowledge.

State Emergency Rescue  
Helicopter Services
We manage the contracts for the State’s two emergency 
rescue helicopters. Sponsorship for the helicopters is provided 
by the RAC. Critical care paramedics are provided under 
contract arrangements with St John Ambulance. Helicopters 
and crews are provided under private contract.

Responsibilities Cont.
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Performance Management  
Framework
Changes to the Outcome Based Management Framework
On 28 January 2020 the Department of Treasury approved DFES’ new Outcome Based Management structure aligned  
to DFES’ Strategic Plan 2020–2024.

The new structure has three Desired Outcomes and three Services which are measured by 10 key performance indicators (KPIs).

Outcomes

Western Australian communities 
recognise and understand 
their local hazard risks and can 
effectively manage them

Measured by KPI 1.1

A diverse team of volunteers and 
staff with a wide range of skills, 
who have access to development 
programs

Measured by KPI 2.1

Risk is reduced and managed 
through innovation and continuous 
improvement across all hazards 
before, during and after 
emergencies

Measured by KPIs 3.1 to 3.5

KPIs

1.1  Proportion of community members who recognise their local natural hazard risks and are prepared to take action

1.2  Average cost per household to deliver education and awareness programs and emergency hazard information  
 to the community

2.1  Proportion of scheduled operational courses delivered

2.2  Average cost per population to deliver health, safety, wellbeing and training services

3.1  Proportion of Level 3 incident Impact Statements completed and endorsed by the State Recovery Coordinator

3.2  Proportion of structure fire reports completed within specified timeframes

3.3  Proportion of natural hazard events which cause a significant impact on the community

3.4  Proportion of responses to ESL 1 and ESL 2 incidents within specified timeframes

3.5  Proportion of structure fires confined to room or object of origin

3.6  Average cost per population to deliver frontline services

Services

Community awareness, education 
and information services

Measured by KPI 1.2

Health, safety, wellbeing and 
training services

Measured by KPI 2.2
Delivery of frontline services 
before, during and after incidents

Measured by KPI 3.6
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Financial 
Statements 
and  
Performance 
Indicators
Resource Agreement
Performance is monitored against financial targets and through our 
Key Performance Indicators. The following performance information 
(financial and non-financial) is the subject of a Resource Agreement 
signed by the Minister for Emergency Services, the Treasurer and 
DFES under Part 3, Division 5 of the Financial Management Act 2006. 
Resources are provided for the delivery of three Services linked to 
three agency level Desired Outcomes.
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Financial Targets Summary
Financial results for 2019-20 are shown below. Further 
explanations are contained in Note 8.11 ‘Explanatory statement’ 
to the Financial Statements.

Target 
($,000)

Actual 
($,000)

Variation 
($,000) Reason for significant variation 

Total cost of services  
(expense limit)

(sourced from 
Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

449,286 470,211 20,925
The variance is mainly due to unanticipated 
expenditure on bushfire suppression and State 
emergency response and recovery operations.

Net cost of services

(sourced from 
Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

17,583 23,234 5,651

The variance is mainly due to unanticipated 
expenditure on bushfire suppression and State 
emergency response and recovery operations.

These increases in expenditure were offset by 
additional revenue recognised from user charges 
and fees, grants and subsidies and recovery of 
funds for interstate deployment costs.

Total equity

(sourced from Statement 
of Financial Position)

446,780 472,905 26,125

The stronger equity position is the result of 
a larger than expected surplus as a result of 
underspends in programs due to COVID-19 
delays, an increase in revenue from grants 
and contributions and an increase in the total 
asset value from favourable land and building 
revaluations.

Approved salary 
expense level

191,474 201,375 9,901

The variance is mainly due to unanticipated 
expenditure on bushfire suppression and State 
emergency response and recovery operations, 
as well as additional approved positions for the 
Bushfire Centre of Excellence and increases in 
employee leave expenses and overtime.

Agreed borrowing limit 32,715 40,040 7,325
The variation is largely due to additional 
borrowings to fund the construction of the 
Bushfire Centre of Excellence.

Certification of  
Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2020

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly 
the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2020 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2020.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Z Zeng MAcct CA  
Acting Chief Finance Officer 
9 September 2020

D Klemm AFSM 
Accountable Authority 
9 September 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 2.1 225,321 212,696

Supplies and services 2.3 132,863 131,338

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 39,980 23,244

Finance costs 6.2 1,929 1,568

Accommodation expenses 2.3 12,356 13,388

Grants and subsidies 2.2 48,197 44,887

Other expenditure 2.3 9,565 8,367

Total cost of services 470,211 435,488

Income

Revenue

Emergency Services Levy 3.1 406,206 393,391

User charges and fees 3.2 11,392 10,847

Grants and contributions 3.4 19,636 18,782

Interest revenue 3.5 205 140

Other revenue 3.6 8,606 4,713

Total revenue 446,045 427,873

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 3.7 932 892

Total gains 932 892

Total income other than income from State Government 446,977 428,765

NET COST OF SERVICES 23,234 6,723

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Income from State Government 3.3
Service appropriation 51,153 23,209

Services received free of charge 1,514 3,314

Royalties for Regions Fund 1,103 5,487

Total income from State Government 53,770 32,010

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 30,536 25,287

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 8.8 4,655 2,358

Total other comprehensive income 4,655 2,358

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 35,191 27,645

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2020

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4 69,457 58,729

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.4 12,213 11,082

Inventories 5.3 6,849 5,513

Receivables 5.1 17,630 11,683

Other current assets 5.4 2,502 2,091

Total curent assets 108,651 89,098

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.4 2,698 2,002

Amounts receivable for services 5.2 54,839 46,566

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 392,026 379,252

Right-of-use assets 4.2 23,688 -

Intangible assets 4.3 12,990 14,905

Total non-current assets 486,241 442,725

TOTAL ASSETS 594,892 531,823

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 5.5 13,858 21,246

Borrowings 6.1 2,440 2,440

Lease liabilities 6.3 14,310 -

Employee related provisions 2.1 31,523 27,751

Other current liabilities 5.6 50 26

Total current liabilities 62,181 51,463

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 6.1 37,600 34,116

Lease liabilities 6.3 9,867 -

Employee related provisions 2.1 12,339 11,283

Total non-current liabilities 59,806 45,399

TOTAL LIABILITIES 121,987 96,862

NET ASSETS 472,905 434,961

EQUITY 8.8

Contributed equity 361,068 358,315

Reserves 51,193 46,538

Accumulated surplus 60,644 30,108

TOTAL EQUITY 472,905 434,961

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note

Contributed 
equity  
($’000)

Reserves 
($’000)

Accumulated 
surplus / 

(deficit) 
($’000)

Total equity 
($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2018 8.8 353,244 44,180 4,821 402,245

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - 25,287 25,287

Other comprehensive income - 2,358 - 2,358

Total comprehensive income for the period 2,358 25,287 27,645

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Other contributions by owners 5,071 - - 5,071

Total 5,071 - - 5,071

Balance at 30 June 2019 8.8 358,315 46,538 30,108 434,961

Balance at 1 July 2019 8.8 358,315 46,538 30,108 434,961

Surplus for the year - - 30,536 30,536

Other comprehensive income - 4,655 - 4,655

Total comprehensive income for the period 4,655 30,536 35,191

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Other contributions by owners 2,753 - - 2,753

Total 2,753 - - 2,753

Balance at 30 June 2020 8.8 361,068 51,193 60,644 472,905

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Receipts

Service appropriation 42,880 15,460

Royalties for Regions Fund 3,796 5,487

Net cash provided by State Government 46,676 20,947

Used as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (221,036) (208,849)

Supplies and services (135,620) (129,307)

Finance costs (2,000) (1,614)

Accommodation (12,040) (12,715)

Grants and subsidies (49,807) (43,864)

GST payments on purchases (23,375) (20,669)

Other payments (9,522) (8,327)

Receipts
Emergency Services Levy 404,113 392,927

User fees and charges 11,389 10,822

Grants and contributions 17,829 13,696

Interest received 205 140

GST receipts on sales 2,605 2,251

GST receipts from taxation authority 20,949 18,151

Other receipts 5,320 4,357

Net cash provided by operating activities 9,010 16,999

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (33,462) (29,505)

Receipts
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 1,391 1,097

Net cash used in investing activities (32,071) (28,408)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Principal elements of lease payments (14,544) -

Repayment of borrowings (2,440) (2,440)

Receipts

Proceeds from borrowings 5,924 -

Net cash used in financing activities (11,060) (2,440)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,555 7,098

Cash balance transferred in from:

Former Office of Emergency Management - 5,682

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 71,813 59,033

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.4 84,368 71,813

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated  
Account Appropriations
for the year ended
30 June 2020

2020 Budget 
Estimate 

($’000)

2020 
Supplementary 

Funding  
($’000)

Revised 
Budget  
($’000)

2020 
Actual  
($’000)

Variance 
($’000)

Delivery of Services

Item 62 Net amount appropriated  
to deliver services 23,715 26,397 50,112 50,112 -

Amount authorised by other Statutes

– Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 1,041 - 1,041 1,041 -

Total appropriations provided  
to deliver services 24,756 26,397 51,153 51,153 -

Administered Transactions
Item 63 Western Australia Natural 
Disaster Relief and Recovery
Arrangements

244,347 - 244,347 244,347 -

Total administered transactions 244,347 - 244,347 244,347 -

GRAND TOTAL 269,103 26,397 295,500 295,500 -

The Department received $26.397 million in supplementary appropriation to recoup unfunded costs associated with bushfire 
suppression and State response and recovery operations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020
 Department objectives

Our Purpose
To achieve a safer Western Australia by enabling and protecting the community before, during and after emergencies.

The Department provides the following services:
Service 1.             Community Awareness, Education and Information Services 
Provision of generic and targeted awareness, education and information programs before an incident and emergency 
hazard information during an incident via social media, telephone call centre, television and radio interviews to increase 
community awareness of preventable and natural emergency hazards, and support their ability to take action.

Service 2.             Health, Safety, Wellbeing and Training Services 
Services provided to ensure that frontline emergency personnel, including volunteers, are not only trained and supported 
to maintain their physical and mental health while providing safe and efficient services to the community. 

Service 3.             Delivery of Frontline Services Before, During and After Incidents 
Services provided by frontline personnel, including volunteers, to enable the community prepare for, prevent where 
possible, respond to and recover from emergency incidents.

1  Basis of preparation
The Department is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. 
The Department is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Department on 9 
September 2020.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 
1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) 
2) The Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs) 
3) Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions take precedence over AASs. Several AASs are 
modified by TIs to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material 
or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the 
historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where 
this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000). 

Judgement and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The 
significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes 
where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can 
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed 
Equity.

2  Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Department’s funding is applied to its operating activities. 
Operating activities are defined as the activities undertaken by the Department to achieve it’s objectives as determined 
by Government. The accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial 
statements have been disclosed as a narrative within the note.

For expenses and policies related to the Department’s investment activities in resources that generate future service 
capacity refer to note 4 Key assets.

For the expenses and policies related to the Department’s financing activities refer to note 6 Financing.

Notes 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Cost of services for operating activities

Employee benefits expense 2.1(a) 225,321 212,696

Grants and subsidies 2.2 48,197 44,887

Operating expenditure 2.3 154,784 153,093

428,302 410,676

Future entitlements related to employees benefits expense

Employee related provisions 2.1(b) 43,862 39,034

43,862 39,034
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Wages and salaries: Include wages and salaries, accrued and paid leave entitlements and paid sick leave. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF), West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS), Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), Government Employee Superannuation Board (GESB) and other eligible 
funds.

FESSF is a superannuation fund available to employees of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services. Membership 
is also available to employees of the United Firefighters Union of Western Australia, Volunteer Fire and Rescue Services 
Association (Inc.), and the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Board (FESSB). The Department’s contribution 
represent the majority of employer contributions. The FESSB is a trustee of the Fund and is responsible for managing the 
Fund in the best interest of members and for ensuring the Fund is managed in accordance with its governing legislation; 
the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985 and the Fire and Emergency Services (Superannuation Fund) 
Regulations 1986.

The Department has accounted for the Defined Benefit Scheme managed by the FESSB as a defined contribution scheme. 
Sufficient information is not available to enable the accounting for the plan as a defined benefit scheme due to the FESSB 
being unable to provide audited financial statements before the certification of the Department’s financial statements.

The liability for superannuation charges is extinguished by payments of employer contributions to the FESSF. The Defined 
Benefit Scheme is characterised as a salary-linked defined benefit, whereby the employee’s superannuation benefit is 
calculated on their final average salary.

Each employer is required to contribute at a rate of at least 8.75% of salaries. Currently the employers contribute at a 
rate of 11.75% of salaries, representing the minimum 8.75% plus an additional 3% of salaries as a result of an industrial 
agreement. An additional 1% is contribution for supplementary disablement assets. Members can make additional voluntary 
contributions to an accumulation account which are payable in addition to any defined benefit entitlement. Contributing 
members who have reached the age of 55 or completed 30 years of contributing membership can transfer their defined 
benefit into their accumulation account.

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Wages and salaries 201,403 188,345

Superannuation (defined benefit and contribution plans) 21,677 20,879

Other related expenses 802 1,754

Termination benefits 533 1,718

Total employee benefits expenses 224,415 212,696

Add: AASB 16 Leases ‘Non-monetary benefits’ 1,185 -

Less: Employee contributions (279) -

NET EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 225,321 212,696

Section 16 of the Fire and Emergency Services (Superannuation Fund) Regulations 1986 requires the Fund’s actuary 
to advise the Superannuation Board of the amounts or rates of contribution required from the Department and each 
associated employer. The Fund’s assets principally consist of financial instruments which comprise units in unlisted trusts, 
interest bearing investments, fixed interest securities, securities in listed entities, mortgage securities and investment in 
joint venture. It holds these investment assets in accordance with the Board’s published investment policy statement.

Upon wind up or withdrawal of the Department from the fund, section 37A of the Fire and Emergency Services 
(Superannuation Fund) Regulations 1986 makes provision for the Superannuation Board to allocate surplus funds 
proportionally to the credit of certain members who qualify on 1 July in the financial year in which the distribution is made 
and had not made elections under regulation 14A before that day. The Department has a constructive obligation to fund any 
deficit attributable to contributions on behalf of its employees.

At the date the financial statements were certified there was no indication that the fund required additional asset 
contributions by the Department. The Department currently provides sufficient contributions to maintain a vested benefit 
index greater than 100%, which measures the Defined Benefit assets to liability ratio. A ratio above 100% indicates the 
FESSF holds sufficient assets to meet the Defined Benefit liability as and when they fall due therefore the Department has 
extinguished any liability as at 30 June 2020. The Department’s employer contribution will remain unchanged in the next 
reporting period.

Other related expenses: Includes non-monetary benefits provided to employees such as medical care, housing, cars and 
subsidised goods or services.

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee 
accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when 
the Department is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to 
present value.

AASB 16 Leases ‘Non-monetary benefits’: Relates to the depreciation and finance charges of right-of-use (ROU) assets 
provided to employees for their benefit such as vehicles and housing provided under an employment contract.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
2  Use of our funding (continued)

2.1 (a) Employee benefits expense
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2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave 12,514 10,964

Long service leave 14,410 12,600

Deferred salary scheme 1,084 1,134

28,008 24,698

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 3,515 3,053

Total current employee related provisions 31,523 27,751

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave 10,812 9,888

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 1,527 1,395

Total non-current employee related provisions 12,339 11,283

Total employee related provisions 43,862 39,034

Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least  
12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the  
end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Department has a right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years  
of service.

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the Department does not expect to wholly settle 
the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are 
estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, and discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment 
on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’, note 2.3 Operating expenditure and are not included as part of the Department’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

Employee on-cost provision 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Carrying amount at start of period 4,448 4,067

Additional provisions recognised 594 381

Carrying amount at end of period 5,042 4,448

Notes to the Financial Statements 
2  Use of our funding (continued)

2.1 (b) Employee related provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long service leave for services 
rendered up to the reporting date as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and recorded as an expense during 
the period the services are delivered in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave 
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.
Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision. These include:

 • expected future salary rates 
 • discount rates 
 • employee retention rates
 • expected future payments.

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.  
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee 
benefits expense. 
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2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Recurrent

Local governments 14,688 16,385

Emergency service volunteer brigades, groups and units 5,279 3,567

Mitigation and hazard management grants 7,563 3,857

Volunteer representative bodies 1,982 1,973

Hazardous material scientific services 1,500 -

Other recurrent grants 382 383

Capital

Local governments 14,194 15,924

Marine Rescue WA groups 2,609 2,798

48,197 44,887

2.2 Grants and subsidies
Transactions in which the Department provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another 
party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants and other transfers 
to third parties (other than contributions to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 
paid or payable.

Recurrent Grants
Grant payments to local governments include payments to meet the operational costs of Bush Fire Brigades and State 
Emergency Service Units as well as supporting the employment of Community Emergency Service Managers.
The Department provides direct grant funding to emergency service volunteer brigades, groups and units in the form  
of operational efficiency grants and Emergency Services Volunteer Fuel Card Scheme grants.

Mitigation and hazard management grants include grant payments to local government and eligible organisations for 
various projects to implement sustained mitigation and hazard management strategies that directly benefit the WA 
community.

The Department provides a quarterly grant to the Chemistry Centre of Western Australia to support emergency services in 
relation to hazardous material including scientific services and other related activities.

Grants are made to volunteer representative bodies that assist in the engagement and representation of emergency 
service volunteers in WA. See note 8.5 Affiliated bodies for assistance provided to affiliated volunteer representative bodies.

Capital Grants
Local government capital grants relate to significant capital works initiatives including the acquisition or modification of 
facilities, appliances, vehicles and major items of equipment.

Capital grants paid to Marine Rescue WA groups, provide for the design and acquisition of rescue craft, towing vehicles, 
radio communication equipment and facilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
2  Use of our funding (continued)
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The 2018-19 comparative figures have been reclassified to provide users with more meaningful expenditure categories.

Service and contract expense is predominantly associated with ICT services such as software development services, ICT 
managed services, professional advisory fees such as audit and legal fees and critical paramedical care for the emergency 
rescue helicopter service.

Plant and equipment hire: The Department contracts the services of firefighting aircraft and heavy plant and equipment to 
suppress fires on a short term hire basis. From 1 July 2019 the cost of the emergency rescue helicopter services standing 
charges have been recognised under the new AASB 16 Leases standard as a ROU asset and included in the Statement of 
Financial Position. Hence these standing charges are included in the 2018-19 hire of plant and equipment costs above but 
excluded in 2019-20.

Minor equipment purchases and maintenance: Equipment valued at less than $5,000 such as breathing apparatus, rescue 
equipment, minor furniture and fittings are expensed as incurred. Repairs and maintenance on equipment are recognised 
as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, 
the costs are capitalised and depreciated. 

Consumables includes significant expenditure such as personal protective clothing and catering during emergency 
incidents.

Property repairs and maintenance includes costs associated with the restoration and minor improvements of buildings 
and lease outgoings related to office accommodation. 

Rental expenses include short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. The significant decrease from the 
comparative is due to the application of AASB 16 Leases which recognises operating leases with lease terms greater 
than 12 months and the underlying asset is valued greater than $5,000 as an ROU asset, with the expense component 
recognised as depreciation. 

Employment on-cost include workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities is included at note 2.1(b) Employee related 
provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 
included in employment on-costs. 

Expected credit losses is an allowance of trade receivables and is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each 
reporting date. The Department has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Supplies and services

Service and contract expense 40,856 41,543

Plant and equipment hire 37,623 40,242

Minor equipment purchases and maintenance 23,051 20,191

Consumables 10,790 7,885

Travel expenses 6,849 5,665

Emergency Service Levy administration charges 4,938 5,654

Communication expenses 3,456 4,859

Insurance premiums and claims 2,371 2,566

Other supplies and services 2,929 2,733

132,863 131,338

Accommodation expenses

Property repairs and maintenance 8,774 7,774

Energy, water and rates 2,912 2,582

Rental expenses 670 3,032

12,356 13,388

Other expenses

Employment on-costs 9,022 7,563

Other expenses from ordinary activities 354 600

Audit fees 163 163

Expected credit loss expense 26 41

9,565 8,367

Notes to the Financial Statements 
2  Use of our funding (continued)

2.3 Operating expenditure
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2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Major Services

Direct Brigade Alarm - connection and monitoring 7,141 6,908

False Fire Alarm Fee 2,468 2,617

Aviation services attendance fee 1,703 1,298

Other 80 24

11,392 10,847

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred over time 7,141 6,908

Services transferred at a point in time 4,251 3,939

11,392 10,847

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Customer type

Non-government 9,240 8,906

Government 2,152 1,941

11,392 10,847

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Emergency Services Levy 406,206 393,391

Note 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Emergency Services Levy 3.1 406,206 393,391

User charges and fees 3.2 11,392 10,847

Income from State Government 3.3 53,770 32,010

Grants and contributions 3.4 19,636 18,782

Interest revenue 3.5 205 140

Other revenue 3.6 8,606 4,713

Net gains 3.7 932 892

500,747 460,775
The Direct Brigade Alarm is a protected premises fire alarm monitoring network that provides a direct data link to a fire 
control station as required by the Building Code of Australia and relevant Australian Standards. The Department charges  
a fee over the financial year for the rental and connection of the system.

The False Fire Alarm Fee is part of the Department’s strategy to reduce the number of false fire alarms by charging owners 
and occupants of premises the cost attending after the third false alarm in a financial year.

The Department charges the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions (DBCA) an aviation services 
attendance fee for the use the Department’s rotary aircraft attendance to fires where DBCA is deemed the responsible 
combat agency.

Notes to the Financial Statements

3  Our funding sources
How we obtain our funding

3.1 Emergency Services Levy

The Emergency Service Levy is a State Government charge that is assessed annually on property in WA in accordance with 
the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

3.2 User charges and fees
Disaggregation of user charges
The Department provides specific services to the WA community and charges a fee to the users of the service to recover 
the cost of providing the service. The following table disaggregates these revenues by major services, timing of revenue 
recognition and type of customer.

Government customers are local government authorities, State Government agencies and Commonwealth Government 
agencies.
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2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation 51,153 23,209

Royalties for Regions Fund:

Regional Community Services Account 1,103 5,487

Total Royalties for Regions Funds 1,103 5,487

Total income from State Government 53,770 32,010

Services received free of charge from other State Government  
agencies during the period:

Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) 915 943

State Solicitor’s Office 412 172

Department of Finance 127 166

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 30 1,684

Department of Primary Industry and Regional Development 22 10

Department of Health 8 8

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation - 331

Total services received 1,514 3,314

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises: 

 • cash component
 • a receivable (asset).

The Regional Community Services Account is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent 
funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas and are recognised as income when the Department 
receives the funds. The Department has assessed Royalties for Regions agreements and concludes that they are not within 
the scope of AASB 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers as they do not meet the ‘sufficiently specific’ criterion. The 
application of AASB 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities from 1 July 
2019 has had no impact on the treatment of income from State Government.

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Commonwealth contributions:

Emergency service assistance 8,358 11,918

National Partnership Payments 2,506 6,864

State and other grants:

Road Trauma Trust - south west emergency rescue helicopter service 4,650 -

Mitigation activities 4,030 3,580

Legacy Foam Project - 1,793

Other 92 87

19,636 18,782

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Emergency Services Levy interest 205 140

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

General revenue 5,070 946

Sponsorship 2,650 2,706

Recovery of local government granted vehicles 479 699

Prior year insurance and other recoveries 407 362

8,606 4,713

The significant increase in general revenue in 2019-20 is largely attributable to the recoup of expenditure for the 
deployment of Departmental staff interstate.

Sponsorship revenue is related to RAC WA sponsorship of the emergency rescue helicopter service.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
3  Our funding sources (continued)

3.3 Income from State Government

3.4 Grants and contributions

Emergency service assistance contributions include Commonwealth payments for the operation of the Department’s fire 
fighting aircraft, service delivery to the Indian Ocean Territories and reimbursement of services provided to the Australian 
Maritime Safety Authority for search and rescue operations conducted in Commonwealth jurisdictions.

National Partnership Payments relates to payments under the National Partnership on Disaster Risk Reduction.

The Department receives State and other grant funding predominantly for the operation of the south west emergency 
rescue helicopter service, fuel tax credit subsidies and the State’s contribution for hazard mitigation activities. 

3.5  Interest revenue

Late payment interest of 11% per annum is charged if a property owner does not pay either the full or part payment  
of ESL on time. However, late ESL payment penalty interest will not be charged when eligible pensioners choose to defer 
the payment of their ESL charge.

3.6 Other revenue
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3.7 Gains
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 1,081 899

Loss on disposal of non-current assets (149) (7)

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of non-current assets 932 892

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Plant, equipment and vehicles 1,391 1,097

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Buildings (118) -

Plant, equipment and vehicles (326) (205)

Right-of-use assets (15) -

Net (loss)/gain 932 892

 
Realised and unrealised gains are recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current 
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal 
the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (from the proceeds of sale).

4  Key assets
Assets the Department uses for service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Department uses to gain economic benefits or provide 
service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of 
these assets: 

Notes 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Property, plants and equipment 4.1 392,026 379,252

Right-of-use assets 4.2 23,688 -

Intangibles 4.3 12,990 14,905

428,704 394,157

Notes to the Financial Statements 
3  Our funding sources (continued)
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period 
are set out in the table below. 

(a) The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only Department with the power to deal in Crown land.  
The land is transferred to DPLH for sale and the agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution (to)/from owner.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
4  Key assets (continued)

Land 
($’000)

Buildings 
($’000)

Buildings under 
construction 

($’000)
Vehicles 

($’000)

Vehicles under 
construction 

($’000)

Plant and  
equipment 

($’000)

Plant and equipment 
under construction 

($’000)

Leasehold 
improvements 

($’000)
Total 

($’000)

1 July 2018

Cost or fair value 98,293 180,292 7,438 121,499 1,033 14,430 3,592 1,182 427,759 

Accumulated depreciation -   -   -   (46,802) -   (7,290) -   (846) (54,938)

Carrying amount at start of period 98,293 180,292 7,438 74,697 1,033 7,140 3,592 336 372,821 

Additions 890 7,375 7,923 9,400 11,544 651 4,941 131 42,855 

Transfers (a) 213 -   -   -   -   12 -   -   225 

Completed works in progress -   -   (8,264) -   (8,814) -   (1,109) -   (18,187)

Other disposals -   -   -   (420) -   (6) -   -   (426)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

(2,777) 5,135 -   -   -   -   -   -   2,358 

Depreciation -   (8,056) -   (10,998) -   (1,170) -   (170) (20,394)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 96,619 184,746 7,097 72,679 3,763 6,627 7,424 297 379,252 

1 July 2019

Cost or fair value 96,619 184,746 7,097 129,702 3,763 15,083 7,424 1,313 445,747 

Accumulated depreciation -   -   -   (57,023) -   (8,456) -   (1,016) (66,495)

Net book amount 96,619 184,746 7,097 72,679 3,763 6,627 7,424 297 379,252 

Additions 4,108 3,085 9,370 14,372 14,848 8,186 2,513 869 57,351 

Transfers (a) 50 10 -   -   -   -   -   -   60 

Completed works in progress -   -   (3,672) -   (13,822) -   (8,956) -   (26,450)

Other disposals -   (118) -   (326) -   -   -   -   (444)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

1,360 3,295 -   -   -   -   -   -   4,655 

Depreciation -   (8,559) -   (11,059) -   (2,272) -   (508) (22,398)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 102,137 182,459 12,795 75,666 4,789 12,541 981 658 392,026 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Initial recognition 
Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired 
for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or 
the estimated useful life of the leasehold improvement.

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings.

Land is carried at fair value and Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and 
Property Analytics) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s 
fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations 
and Property Analytics). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2020 and recognised at 30 June 
2020. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $18,182,900 (2019: 
$18,538,600) and buildings: $33,281,200 (2019: $34,075,000). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined 
on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with 
market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

As at 30 June 2020, there was insufficient market evidence to quantify the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. It can only be 
concluded that there was significant uncertainty of fair value accuracy of land and buildings at the reporting date.

Revaluation model:
1. Fair Value where market-based evidence is available: 
 The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to  
 recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated  
 depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued  
 amount.

2.  Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence: 
 Buildings are specialised or where land is restricted: Fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of  
 existing use.

 Existing use buildings: Fair value is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic  
 benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined  
 on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated  
 proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset.

 Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate  
 utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment
Charge for the period

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Vehicles 11,059 10,998

Buildings 8,559 8,056

Plant and equipment 2,272 1,170

Leasehold improvements 508 170

Total depreciation for the period 22,398 20,394

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment.

The Department did not hold any surplus assets at 30 June 2020.

Finite useful lives
All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in 
a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

The exceptions to this rule include assets held for sale, land and investment properties.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual 
value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are 
included in the table below.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, 
and adjustments should be made where appropriate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Land which is considered to have an indefinite life, is not depreciated as its service potential has not, in any material sense, 
been consumed during the reporting period.

Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is  
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit 
or loss.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement through other comprehensive income.

As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

Asset Useful life 

Buildings 40 years

Vehicles 5–20 years

Plant and equipment 3–10 years

Notes to the Financial Statements 
4  Key assets (continued)
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4.2 Right-of-use assets 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Emergency rescue helicopters 10,625 -

Accommodation 8,621 -

Plant, equipment and vehicles 4,442 -

Net carrying amount at 30 June 2020 23,688 -

Right-of-use assets (ROU) represent the Department’s right to use an asset for the term of a lease. 

Additions to ROU assets during the 2020 financial year were $4,807,000.

Initial recognition
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:

 • the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
 • any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
 • any identifiable initial direct costs
 • restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

This includes all leased assets other than investment property ROU assets, which are measured in accordance with AASB 
140 Investment Property. The Department has elected not to recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for short-term 
leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease 
payments associated with these leases are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liability.

Depreciation and impairment of ROU assets
ROU assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
underlying assets. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Department at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

ROU assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in connection with testing 
for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment.

The following depreciation amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $15,236,000.

The Department’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for: 
The Department has leases for vehicles, office and residential accommodations and plant and equipment.

The Department has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding Agreement with the Department of Finance 
for the leasing of office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 Leases because of substitution rights 
held by the Department of Finance and are accounted for as an expense as incurred. Up to 30 June 2019, the Department 
held only leases as classified as operating leases. From 1 July 2019, the Department recognises leases as ROU assets and 
associated lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these ROU assets have been disclosed in note 6.3 Lease liabilities.

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Emergency rescue helicopters 10,233 -

Accommodation 2,372 -

Plant, equipment and vehicles 1,255 -

Total ROU asset depreciation 13,860 -

Lease interest expense 665 -

Expenses related to variable lease payments not included In lease liabilities 562 -

Short-term leases 1,066 -

Low-value leases -   -

Gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions -   -

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable 
amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
4  Key assets (continued)

4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment (continued)
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4.3 Intangible assets
Intangible  

assets not yet 
available for use  

($’000)

Computer 
software 

($’000)
Total 

($’000)

Year ended 30 June 2019 
1 July 2018

Cost 13,005 1,407 14,412 

Accumulated amortisation -   (1,397) (1,397)

Carrying amount at start of period 13,005 10 13,015 

Additions 4,404 15,671 20,075 

Completed works in progress (15,335) -   (15,335)

Amortisation -   (2,850) (2,850)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 2,074 12,831 14,905 

Year ended 30 June 2020 
1 July 2019

Cost 2,074 17,078 19,152 

Accumulated amortisation -   (4,247) (4,247)

Carrying amount at start of period 2,074 12,831 14,905 

Additions 1,807 3,881 5,688 

Completed works in progress (3,881) -   (3,881)

Amortisation -   (3,722) (3,722)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 -   12,990 12,990 

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) 
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

a. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale 

b. an intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it 

c. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset

d. the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit

e. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 
the intangible asset 

f. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Charge for the period 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Computer software 3,722 2,850

Total amortisation for the period 3,722 2,850

Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more 
that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57 Intangible Assets (as noted below), are capitalised.

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

Asset Useful life 

Software (a) 3–5 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation 
of related hardware.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
4  Key assets (continued)

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives and intangible assets which are not available for use are tested for impairment 
annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment.

4.3.1  Amortisation and impairment
As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over 
its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are in the table below.
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5 Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Department’s controlled operations and includes other 
assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

5.3 Inventories

Notes 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Assets

Receivables 5.1 17,630 11,683 

Amounts receivable for services 5.2 54,839 46,566 

Inventories 5.3 6,849 5,513 

Other assets 5.4 2,502 2,091 

Liabilities
Payables 5.5 13,858 21,246 

Contract liabilities 5.6 50 26 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current

Receivables 14,204 8,603 

Allowance for impairment of receiveables (47) (41)

GST receivable 3,473 3,121 

17,630 11,683 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current - - 

Non-current 54,839 46,566

54,839 46,566

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Inventories held for distribution 3,807 2,947 

Inventories held for consumption 3,042 2,566

6,849 5,513

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current

Prepayments 2,502 2,091

2,502 2,091

Current 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Trade payables 11,350 17,632 

Accrued salaries 1,476 3,044 

GST payable 812 280 

Accrued interest 220 290 

13,858 21,246 

5.1 Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 

Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the Holding Account).

Inventories held for distribution represent fire appliances under construction as part of the Emergency Services Levy 
capital grants process. These inventories are measured at cost. A capital grant expense is recognised when the fire 
appliance is completed and delivered to the local government authority.

Inventory held for consumption represents fire appliances parts, consumable items, service exchange equipment and 
tools stored in the Fleet and Equipment Services workshop facility in O’Connor. These inventories are measured on a 
weighted average cost basis.

5.4 Other assets

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or 
that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.5 Payables

Trade payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as 
a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 
30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are 
settled within a week of the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to  
be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (See note 6.4 Cash and cash equivalents ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually, from Department income for salaries expense, into a suspense account to meet the 
additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 53 pay days instead of the normal 52. This is 
due to next occur in 2021-22. No interest is received on this account.. 

Accrued interest represents interest expense incurred but not yet paid as at reporting date.

GST payable is the Goods and Services tax raised from taxable sales by the Department due to the Australian Taxation Office.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5.6 Contract liabilities
2020  

($’000)
2019  

($’000)

Opening balance at the beginning of the period 26 25 

Additions 7,141 6,908

Revenue recognised in the reporting period (7,117) (6,907)

Closing balance at the end of the period 50 26 

Current 50 26 

Non-current -   -   

Total contract liabilities 50 26 

6 Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of the 
Department.

6.2 Finance costs

Notes 

Borrowings 6.1

Finance costs 6.2

Lease liabilities 6.3

Cash and cash equivalents 6.4

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current

Western Australian Treasury Corporation loan 2,440 2,440

Non-current

Western Australian Treasury Corporation loan 37,600 34,116

Balance at end of period 40,040 36,556

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current 14,310 - 

Non-current 9,867 -

24,177 -

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Interest expense 1,193 1,493 

Interest on lease liabilities 665 -

Loan guarantee fees 71 75 

1,929 1,568 

6.1 Borrowings

Borrowings refer to interest bearing liabilities raised from public borrowings through Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation, which is an interest bearing arrangement.

Borrowings are classified as financial instruments. All interest bearing borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. The Department has classified all financial 
liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.

Finance costs includes the interest expense in connection to long term borrowings. The Department is required topay 
a loan guarantee fee which represents the premium paid to Government, which acts as guarantor for all long term 
borrowings of the Department.

6.3 Lease liabilities

The Department measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Department uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury 
Corporation.

Lease payments included by the Department as part of the present value calculation of lease liability include:

 • fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
 • variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date
 • amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
 • the exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised)
 • payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the Department exercising an option to 

terminate the lease.

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes 
in variable lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is 
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the Department if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4.2 Right-of-use assets.

Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the 
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to 
adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
5  Other assets and liabilities (continued)
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6.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Operating cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand and at bank 69,457 58,729

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

Commonwealth specific purpose grant funding (a) 8,676 8,664 

State mitigation activity funding (b) 1,245 1,638 

Royalties for Regions Fund (c) 1,978 723 

Funds held for service delivery to the Indian Ocean Territories 313 56 

Rental bond deposits 1 1 

Non-current

53rd pay (d) 2,698 2,002 

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,911 13,084 

Total cash and cash equivalents 84,368 71,813

7 Financial instruments and contingencies
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Department.

Notes 

Financial instruments 7.1

Contingent liabilities 7.2

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 69,457 58,729 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14,911 13,084 

Receivables (a) 68,996 55,128 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 53,898 57,802 

(a) Unspent funding provided by the Commonwealth Government for specific programs has been restricted from the 
operational funds of the Department. This includes funding for the Natural Disaster Resilience Program, Prepared 
Communities, Disaster Risk Reduction and National Bushfire Mitigation Program.

(b) Unspent funding provided by the the Department of Planning, Heritage and Lands to fund local government to perform 
future hazard mitigation activities.

(c) Unspent funding provided by Royalties for Regions for the construction of the Collie multi-purpose facility and Volunteer 
Fuel Card.

(d) Funds held to provide for the year in which employees receive 53 salary and wage payments rather than the normal 52. 
The 53rd pay is held to maturity which next occurs on 30 June 2022. 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

7.1 Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

7.2 Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements.

Contaminated sites
The Department has contamination issues related to the legacy of the use of Aqueous Film Forming Foams (called AFFF) 
which contains perfluorooctane sulphonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), two substances that are regarded 
as ‘emerging contaminants’ or pollutants that are potentially a risk to human health or the environment. These chemicals 
were also common in household and industry goods such as paints, non-stick cooking surfaces, pots, pans, baking paper, 
food packaging, carpet stain protection and to waterproof clothes and camping gear. 

The Department withdrew the AFFF from service in 2003. The Department currently has 25 sites that are classified as 
‘possibly contaminated - investigation required’. Preliminary Site Investigations (PSIs) for 20 of these locations has been 
completed with all recommending further assessment through Detailed Site Investigations (DSIs) from the Department of 
Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER).

DSIs have been conducted at the Department’s training centre (Academy) and a Site Management Plan for the Academy 
has now been put into place for this site. In addition, a DSI has also been completed for the Department’s Fleet Services 
Workshop in O’Connor. Further DSIs are being undertaken at these sites and also the former Albany and Bunbury Career 
Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) and the current Fremantle CFRS sites. PSIs will also be undertaken at the Denmark and 
Margaret River Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service (VFRS) sites and the former Fremantle CFRS site. Key findings from the 
investigations have been communicated by the Department to the relevant personnel.

The Department has completed a DWER recommended GIS-Risk Based Assessment (GIS-RBA) of all the sites to determine 
a prioritised list of sites that may require further investigation based on the risks associated with the past use and/ 
or storage of AFFF. The GIS-RBA categorised and prioritised the sites in accordance with the National Environmental 
Management Plan guidelines as 23 ‘Urgent’, 42 ‘High’, 58 ‘Standard’, 38 ‘Low’ and one ‘None’ (no action needed). The GIS-RBA 
is used to determine the priority for site assessment.

The Department has further past and present sites that may be classified pending further investigations.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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7.2 Contingent liabilities (continued)
Pending legal claim
The Department is contesting a claim of negligence which may be litigated. The financial effect, if this claim is successful, 
cannot be reliably measured at this time

Aluminium composite panels
The Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety (DMIRS) have been performing an audit of public sector agencies 
with buildings vested in their control regarding the risk associated with potentially combustible aluminium composite 
panels.

As part of this investigation, the Department has identified one building which the Department is remediating to remove 
the hazard. Work will commence in the first quarter of 2020-21 to mitigate the hazard.

8  Other disclosures

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial 
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the contracts with 
customers. Revenue is recognised by applying the following five steps: 

 • Identifying contracts with customers. 

 • Identifying separate performance obligations. 

 • Determining the transaction price of the contract.

 • Allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations. 

 • Recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods or services are separately identified and 
any discounts or rebates in the contract price are allocated to the separate elements.

In addition, the Department derives income from appropriations which are recognised under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-
Profit Entities. AASB 1058 is applied to Not-for-Profit Entities for recognising income that is not revenue from contracts with 
customers. Timing of income recognition under AASB 1058 depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability 
or other performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset 
(such as cash or another asset) recognised by a Department.

The Department will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities. No comparative information will be restated under this 
approach, and the Department will recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application (1 July 2019).

Under this transition method, Department may elect to apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts and 
transactions that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application.

Refer to note 3.1 Emergency Services Levy, 3.2 User charges and fees and 3.3 Income from State Government for the 
revenue and income accounting policies adopted from 1 July 2019.

There is nil affect on the Department’s financial statements in adopting AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities.

The Emergency Services Levy has been determined as an involuntary non-reciprocal transfer in scope of AASB 1058 Income 
of Not-for-Profit Entities. Levy payers do not have an enforceable right to receive emergency services of an approximate 
value. Income is recognised upon the occurrence of a taxation event. The taxation event for the Emergency Services Levy is 
the issuance of a rate notice by the local government authority.

User fees and charges are in scope of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. All user fees and charges 
collected by the Department are charged at a point in time, other than the Direct Brigade Alarm and the Department of 
Planning, Land and Heritage payment for prescribed burns on Unallocated Crown Land. These users fees are prepaid and 
the service provided over a period of time that corresponds with the financial year

Current grants revenue received by the Department have been assessed and it has been concluded that the funding is not 
in scope of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers as they do not meet the ‘sufficiently specific’ criterion.

(b)  AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations. AASB 16 Leases primarily affects lessee accounting 
and provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the Financial 
Statements of both lessees and lessors. 

The Department applies AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. As permitted under 
the specific transition provisions, comparatives are not restated. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard is 
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit). 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

8.1 Events occurring after reporting date
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the Department’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Department’s state of affairs in future financial years.

8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards
(a)  AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 Construction Contracts for 
annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2019. Under the new model, the Department shall recognise revenue when 
(or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service and is based upon the 
transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and rewards.

Notes 
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The main changes introduced by this Standard include identification of lease within a contract and a new lease accounting 
model for lessees that require lessees to recognise all leases (operating and finance leases) on the Statement of Financial 
Position as right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities, except for short term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less at 
commencement date) and low-value assets (where the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating lease 
and finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists. 

Under AASB 16 Leases, the Department takes into consideration all operating leases that were off balance sheet under 
AASB 117 Leases and recognises:

a. ROU assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, initially measured at the present value of future 
lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate  on 1 July 2019

b. depreciation of ROU assets and interest on lease liabilities in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
c. the total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the cash flows from financing activities, and 

interest paid, which is presented in the cash flows from operating activities, in the Statement of Cash Flows.

In relation to leased vehicles that were previously classified as finance leases, their carrying amount before transition is 
used as the carrying amount of the ROU assets and the lease liabilities as of 1 July 2019. 

The Department measures concessionary leases that are of low value terms and conditions at cost at inception. There is 
no financial impact as any concessionary leases held by the the Department are not charged.

The ROU assets are assessed for impairment at the date of transition and the Department has not identified any 
impairments to its ROU assets.

On transition, the Department has elected to apply the following practical expedients in the assessment of their leases that 
were previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117 Leases:

a. a single discount rate has been applied to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

b. the Department has relied on its assessment of whether existing leases were onerous in applying AASB 137 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to 
performing an impairment review. No ROU assets have been determined as onerous

c. where the lease term at initial application ended within 12 months, the Department has accounted for these as short-
term leases

d. initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the ROU asset

e. hindsight has been used to determine if the contracts contained options to extend or terminate the lease.

The Department has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or contained a lease at 1 July 2019. The requirements of 
paragraphs 9-11 of AASB 16 Leases are applied to contracts that came into existence post 1 July 2019. 

8.3 Key management personnel
The Department has determined that key management personnel include Ministers and senior officers of the Department. 
However, the Department is not obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ 
compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:

a. Measurement of lease liabilities

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 32,924 

Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application: (896)

Add: Lease term options determined as reasonably certain under AASB 16 Leases 3,127 

Less: Variation of commitment in scope of AASB 16 Leases (1,795)

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 33,360

Current lease liabilities 13,867 

Non-current lease liabilities 19,493 

33,360 

Compensation Band ($) 2020 2019 

140,001 - 150,000 -   1 

170,001 - 180,000 -   1 

200,001 - 210,000 1 -   

210,001 - 220,000 1 -   

230,001 - 240,000 1 -   

240,001 - 250,000 -   1 

250,001 - 260,000 1 2 

300,001 - 310,000 1 -   

360,001 - 370,000 1 1 

420,001 - 430,000 -   1 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Short-term employee benefits 1,351 1,396 

Post-employment benefits 156 158 

Other long-term benefits 75 114 

Termination benefits -   201 

 1,582 1,869 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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8.4 Related party transactions
The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the 
Department is required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax 
and levy payers to the State and entities related to the State.

Related parties of the Department include:

 • all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities

 • all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities

 • other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government 
consolidated financial statements 

 • associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements

 • GESB and FESSF.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed
There have been no related party transactions other than transactions that would occur within a normal supplier or client/
recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the 
Department would have adopted if dealing with that individual entity at arm’s length in the same circumstance.

Significant transactions with government related entities
 • Service appropriations (note 3.2 User charges and fees)
 • Contributed equity (note 8.8 Equity)
 • Services received free of charge (note 3.2 User charges and fees) 
 • Royalties for Regions Fund (note 3.2 User charges and fees) 
 • Superannuation payments to GESB and FESSF (note 2.1(a) Employee benefits expense) 
 • Remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (note 8.7 Remuneration of auditors).

Material transactions with related parties
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department, there were no other related party transactions that 
involved key management personnel an /or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) 
entities.

8.5  Affiliated bodies
Affiliated bodies are entities that are significantly dependant on funding received from the Department, judged as more 
than 50%, however retain independent operational control. The following are classified as non-government affiliated bodies 
and receive direct and/or indirect financial assistance. Direct financial assistance is given in the form of a grant (see note 
2.2 Grants and subsidies) and minor reimbursements. Indirect assistance is given in the form of inkind benefits including 
office accommodation and minor administrative support.

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Volunteer Fire and Rescue Services Association of WA Inc. 321 363 

Volunteer Marine Rescue Western Australia Inc. 199 295 

Association of Volunteer Bush Fire Brigades WA Inc. 140 141 

Emergency Services Volunteer Association Inc. 137 75 

 797 874 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Balance at start of period 492 481 

Receipts 6 11 

Payments - - 

Balance at end of period  498 492 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Balance at start of period 59 55 

Receipts - 4 

Payments - - 

Balance at end of period  59 59 

The decrease in assistance to the Volunteer Fire and Rescue Services Association in 2019-20 is largely attributable to the 
postponement of Department subsidised events. The decrease in Volunteer Marine Rescue WA payments was due to the 
planned decrease in funding commitments in 2019-20.

8.6  Special purpose financial statements
WA Volunteer Fire Brigades Trust(a)

The purpose of the account is to hold funds pursuant to the last will and testament of Cecilia Veal for the use of Volunteer 
Fire Brigades in Western Australia.

Coolgardie Volunteer Fire Brigade Trust (a)

The purpose of the account is to hold funds pursuant to the last will and testament of Frances Tree for the use of 
Coolgardie Volunteer Fire Brigade.

(a) Established under section 16(1)(c) of Financial Management Act 2006 .
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8.7  Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:

8.9  Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-Offs
During the financial year nil amounts (2019: nil) were written off the Department’s asset register.2020  

($’000)
2019  

($’000)

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators 174 160 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period 358,315 353,244 

Other contributions by owners   

Transfer of net assets from the Office of Emergency Management (a) -   4,858 

Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund 2,693 -   

Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Transfer of Land from Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 60 213 

Total contributions by owners 2,753 5,071 

Balance at end of period 361,068 358,315 

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 46,538 44,180 

Net revaluation increments / (decrements)

Land 1,360 (2,777)

Buildings 3,295 5,135 

Balance at end of period 51,193 46,538 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Balance at start of period 30,108 4,821 

Results for the period 30,536 25,287 

Balance at end of period 60,644 30,108 

Total equity at end of period 472,905 434,961 

(a) On 1 July 2018 the Office of Emergency Management was merged with the Department. All assets and liabilities of the 
former Office of Emergency Management were transferred to the Department.

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Write-off of debts and receivables 11 6 

(c) Gifts of public property 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Gifts given during volunteer events and visits by dignitaries 9 1 

2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Opening balance 56 (16)

Total receipts 281 166 

Total expenditure (24) (94)

Closing balance  313 56 

8.8  Equity

8.10 Indian Ocean Territories
The Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities provides funding for the Department to: 

 • support the provision of community safety / prevention programs 
 • assess commercial and industrial building plans, inspect completed buildings for compliance with National 

Construction Code and test fire safety equipment 
 • undertake fire safety assessments
 • support fire and emergency services and volunteer marine rescue groups, including: training, emergency exercises, 

inspect and provide advice on personal protective clothing and personal protective equipment 
 • provide advice on emergency recovery plans 
 • provide a Volunteer Assistance Program.
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Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual 
from  

2019 and 
2020 

($’000)

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 9, d 24,756 51,153 23,209 26,397 27,944 

Services received free of charge e 2,273 1,514 3,314 (759) (1,800)

Royalties for Regions Fund f 1,603 1,103 5,487 (500) (4,384)

Total income from State Government 28,632 53,770 32,010 25,138 21,760 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 11,049 30,536 25,287 19,487 5,249 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus -   4,655 2,358 4,655 2,297 

Total other comprehensive income -   4,655 2,358 4,655 2,297 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 11,049 35,191 27,645 24,142 7,546 

8.11 Explanatory statement
All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 
2020 and 2019 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are greater than 10% and $1 million 
for the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, and the Statement of Cash Flows. Variances 
relating to cash assets, receivables, payables, contributed equity, accumulated surplus and asset revaluation surplus are 
excluded from the definition of major variance.

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual from  
2019 and 

2020  
($’000)

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 222,914 225,321 212,696 2,407 12,625 

Supplies and services 1 106,528 132,863 131,338 26,335 1,525 

Depreciation and amortisation 2, a 32,019 39,980 23,244 7,961 16,736 

Finance costs 2,456 1,929 1,568 (527) 361 

Accommodation expenses 3 9,600 12,356 13,388 2,756 (1,032)

Grants and subsidies 4 64,869 48,197 44,887 (16,672) 3,310 

Other expenditure 5, b 10,900 9,565 8,367 (1,335) 1,198 

Total cost of services 449,286 470,211 435,488 20,925 34,723 

Income

Revenue

Emergency Services Levy 405,140 406,206 393,391 1,066 12,815 

User charges and fees 6 9,344 11,392 10,847 2,048 545 

Grants and contributions 7 12,286 19,636 18,782 7,350 854 

Interest revenue -   205 140 205 65 

Other revenue 8, c 4,933 8,606 4,713 3,673 3,893 

Total revenue 431,703 446,045 427,873 14,342 18,172 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets -   932 892 932 40 

Total gains - 932 892 932 40

Total income other than income from 
State Government 431,703 446,977 428,765 15,274 18,212

NET COST OF SERVICES 17,583 23,234 6,723 5,651 16,511 
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Major estimate and actual (2020) variance narratives 
1) Supplies and services increased by $26.335 million (24.7%) compared with the estimate primarily due to significant 

unforeseen expenditure associated with bushfire suppression and natural hazards incidents. Major costs include: 
the hire of aircraft, bulldozers, graders and tractors; aircraft (helicopters and fixed wing) used for water bombing, 
reconnaissance and aerial coordination; and heavy vehicles used to create fire breaks.

2) Depreciation increased by $7.961 million (24.9%) compared with the estimate primarily due to: the service agreements 
for the two emergency rescue helicopters being recognised as leases adding an additional $10.198 million in ROU asset 
depreciation, a $1.449 million underspend in depreciation expense for fixed assets and the reclassification of $1.185 
million of vehicle and accommodation lease expenses as employee benefits expense required under AASB 16 Leases 
and Treasurer’s instruction 916 Leases.

3) Accommodation increased by $2.756 million (28.7%) compared with the estimate primarily due to higher property 
repairs and maintenance costs ($1.539 million), higher utility costs ($0.547 million) and the recognition of Government 
Office Accommodation arrangements as operating expenses ($0.503 million). The budget estimate has these 
agreements classified as leases under AASB 16 Leases in accordance with previous advice.

4) Grants and subsidies reduced by $16.672 million (25.7%) compared to the estimate primarily due to: $5.093 million 
underspend in the Local Government Grants Scheme due to delays in the commissioning of appliances currently 
recognised as inventory held for distribution, $1.741 million underspend on the National Disaster Resilience Program, 
$4.411 million in reclassifications of ESL mitigation grants to services and contracts to recognise the “I am Fire” bushfire 
awareness campaign and the mitigation work undertaken by the Department on Unallocated Crown Land, and $5.500 
million underspend on the ESL Mitigation grants program.

5) Other expenses is below the estimate by $1.335 million (12.3%) primarily due to higher set budget for workers’ 
compensation premium advised by the insurer.

6) User fee and charges increased by $2.048 million (21.9%) primarily due to fire and emergency attendance and standby 
charges received from the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions for use of the Department’s 
aircraft attending fires where DBCA is the responsible combat agency. 

7) Grants and contributions is above the estimate by $7.350 million (59.8%) due to an additional $3.524 million in 
contributions from the Commonwealth Government for National Partnerships and from the National Aerial Firefighting 
Centre. The Department also received an additional $3.825 million in other grants including funding from the 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage for undertaking mitigations activities.  

8) The increase in Other revenue of $3.673 million (74.5%) includes an additional $1.363 million for prior period adjustments 
and $2.591 million for the recovery of costs associated with strike teams deployed to assist with the unprecedented 
bushfire response in the eastern states.         

9) The increase in Service appropriation of $26.397 million (106.6%) is due to supplementary funding approved by Treasury. 
During 2019-20, the Department responded to a number of emergency incidents including bushfires in Katanning, 
Norseman, Stirling Range National Park, Yanchep and Forrestania and tropical cyclones Damien, Blake and Esther which 
resulted in significant and unforeseen expenditure. The Department received $26.397 million in supplementary funding 
to recoup the unfunded costs mainly associated with bushfire suppression and natural hazards incidents.   

Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives
a) The increase in depreciation expense by $16.736 million (72.0%) is due to the application of AASB 16 Leases which 

recognised an additional $37.7 million of depreciable assets. 
b) Other expenses increased by $1.198 million (14.3%) largely due to the increase in workers’ compensation premiums and 

the expensing of additional on-cost provisions. 
c) The increase in other revenue of $3.893 million (90.2%) is largely attributable to the recovery of expenditure related to 

interstate deployments during the 2019-20 high fire season.
d) The increase in service appropriation of $27.944 million (120.4%) is due to supplementary funding approved by Treasury 

to meet unfunded fire suppression activities for the last two financial years. 
e) The decrease in services received free of charge of $1.800 million (54.3%) is largely attributable to the Department of 

Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions and the Department no longer recognising a charge for aircraft standing 
fees during joint operations.

f) The reduction in Royalties for Regions funding of $4.384 million (79.9%) is largely attributable to the transition of 
the south west emergency rescue helicopter service funding from Royalties for Regions to State Government 
appropriation and grant funding from the Road Trauma Trust.       

8.11 Explanatory statement (continued)
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8.11 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Financial Position 
(Controlled Operations)

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual from  
2019 and 

2020  
($’000)

ASSETS

Current assets

Operating cash and cash equivalents 47,972 69,457 58,729 21,485 10,728 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 195 12,213 11,082 12,018 1,131 

Inventories 1, a 3,659 6,849 5,513 3,190 1,336 

Receivables 5,229 17,630 11,683 12,401 5,947 

Other current assets 1,975 2,502 2,091 527 411 

Total curent assets 59,030 108,651 89,098 49,621 19,553 

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,003 2,698 2,002 (305) 696 

Amounts receivable for services 54,839 54,839 46,566 -   8,273 

Property, plant and equipment 398,955 392,026 379,252 (6,929) 12,774 

Right-of-use assets 2, b 16,372 23,688 -   7,316 23,688 

Intangible assets 3, c 19,535 12,990 14,905 (6,545) (1,915)

Total non-current assets 492,704 486,241 442,725 (6,463) 43,516

TOTAL ASSETS 551,734 594,892 531,823 43,158 63,069 

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual from  
2019 and 

2020  
($’000)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 16,044 13,858 21,246 (2,186) (7,388)

Borrowings 2,440 2,440 2,440 -   -   

Lease liabilities 4, d 4,256 14,310 -   10,054 14,310 

Employee related provisions e 29,146 31,523 27,751 2,377 3,772 

Other current liabilities 441 50 26 (391) 24 

Total current liabilities 52,327 62,181 51,463 9,854 10,718 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 5, f 30,275 37,600 34,116 7,325 3,484 

Lease liabilities 6, g 11,927 9,867 - (2,060) 9,867 

Employee related provisions 7 10,425 12,339 11,283 1,914 1,056 

Total non-current liabilities 52,627 59,806 45,399 7,179 14,407 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 104,954 121,987 96,862 17,033 25,125 

NET ASSETS 446,780 472,905 434,961 26,125 37,944 

EQUITY

Contributed equity 370,305 361,068 358,315 (9,237) 2,753 

Reserves 44,180 51,193 46,538 7,013 4,655 

Accumulated surplus 32,295 60,644 30,108 28,349 30,536 

TOTAL EQUITY 446,780 472,905 434,961 26,125 37,944 
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Major estimate and actual (2020) variance narratives 
1) The increase in Inventories of $3.190 million (87.2%) over the estimate is due to the increase in inventory held for 

distribution as a result of delays in the commissioning of appliances to local governments under the LGGS grants 
scheme. 

2) The increase in ROU assets of $7.316 million (44.7%) above the estimate is due to the service agreements for the two 
emergency rescue helicopters being recognised as leases. 

3) Intangible assets is below the estimate by $6.545 million (33.5%) primarily due to an underspend in the computer aided 
dispatch replacement program and higher accumulated amortisation than the budget estimate.

4) Lease liability is above the estimate by $10.054 million (236.2%) as a result of the service agreements for the two 
Emergency Rescue Helicopters being recognised as leases.    

5) The increase in Borrowings of $7.325 million (24.2%) above the estimate is due to $5.924 million in additional WATC 
borrowings to fund the construction of the Bushfire Centre of Excellence approved in September 2019 and Mid year 
review adjustment of $1.401 million to revise estimated borrowing limits to WATC repayment schedules.

6) Lease liability is below the estimate by $2.060 million (17.3%). The budget estimate includes the recognition of Government 
Office Accommodation (GOA) arrangements as leases. During the 2019-20 financial year the Government position on the 
accounting treatment of GOA arrangements was amended, being no longer incorporated in AASB 16 Leases.

7) Employee related provisions have increased by $1.914 million (18.4%) over the budget as a result of an increase in the 
nominal value of leave entitlements with leave being deferred during the COVID-19 pandemic due to travel restrictions, 
and an increase in the value of long service leave as a result of the reduction in the actuarial discount rate.  
         

Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives 
a) The increase in inventories of $1.336 million (24.2%) is due the variability in timing of the build cycle of both 

Departmental fire appliances and appliances to be issued to local governments. 
b) The increase in ROU assets by $23.688 million is due to the initial application of AASB 16 Leases which capitalised the 

underlying assets expensed as an operating lease in prior years. 
c) The increase in intangible assets of $1.915 million (12.8%) is due to the completion and capitalisation of the Volunteer 

Hub web portal project. 
d) The increase in current lease liabilities of $14.310 million is due to the initial application of AASB 16 Leases which 

capitalised the underlying ROU asset and associated principal component of the liability funding the use of the asset. 
e) The increase in current employee related provisions of $3.772 million (13.6%) is due to multiple factors including 

increase in full time equivalent, salary increases and the accrual of additional leave entitlements. 
f) The increase in non-current borrowings of $3.484 million (10.2%) is due to WATC capital borrowings to fund the 

construction of the Bushfire Centre of Excellence facility. 
g) The increase in non-current lease liabilities of $9.867 million is due to the initial application of AASB 16 Leases which 

capitalised the underlying ROU asset and associated principal component of the liability funding the use of the asset. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
(Controlled operations)

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual 
from  

2019 and 
2020 

($’000)

Receipts

Service appropriation 1, a 16,483 42,880 15,460 26,397 27,420 

Royalties for Regions Fund 2, b 6,659 3,796 5,487 (2,863) (1,691)

Net cash provided by State Government 23,142 46,676 20,947 23,534 25,729 

Used as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (221,971) (221,036) (208,849) 935 (12,187)

Supplies and services 3 (101,883) (135,620) (129,307) (33,737) (6,313)

Finance costs (2,456) (2,000) (1,614) 456 (386)

Accommodation 4 (9,706) (12,040) (12,715) (2,334) 675 

Grants and subsidies 5, c (64,869) (49,807) (43,864) 15,062 (5,943)

GST payments on purchases 6, d (8,794) (23,375) (20,669) (14,581) (2,706)

Other payments 7, e (10,878) (9,522) (8,327) 1,356 (1,195)

Receipts
Emergency Services Levy 406,041 404,113 392,927 (1,928) 11,186 

User fees and charges 8 9,343 11,389 10,822 2,046 567 

Grants and contributions 9, f 12,665 17,829 13,696 5,164 4,133 

Interest received -   205 140 205 65 

GST receipts on sales 10 1,250 2,605 2,251 1,355 354 

GST receipts from taxation authority 11, g 7,544 20,949 18,151 13,405 2,798 

Other receipts 12 3,456 5,320 4,357 1,864 963 

Net cash used in operating activities 19,742 9,010 16,999 (10,732) (7,989)

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual  
from  

2019 and 
2020  

($’000)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets 13, h (50,767) (33,462) (29,505) 17,305 (3,957)

Receipts
Proceeds from the sale of non-current 
assets

14 -   1,391 1,097 1,391 294 

Net cash used in investing activities (50,767) (32,071) (28,408) 18,696 (3,663)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Principal elements of lease payments 15, i (4,638) (14,544) -   (9,906) (14,544)

Repayment of borrowings 16 (6,080) (2,440) (2,440) 3,640 -   

Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings 17, j -   5,924 -   5,924 5,924 

Net cash used in financing activities (10,718) (11,060) (2,440) (342) (8,620)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents

(18,601) 12,555 7,098 31,156 5,457 

Cash balance transferred in from:

Former Office of Emergency Management -   -   5,682 -   (5,682)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 69,771 71,813 59,033 2,042 12,780 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 51,170 84,368 71,813 33,198 12,555 
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Major estimate and actual (2020) variance narratives 
1) The increase in service appropriation of $26.397 million (160.2%) is due to supplementary funding approved by Treasury. 

During 2019-20, the Department responded to a number of emergency incidents including bushfires in Katanning, 
Norseman, Stirling Range National Park, Yanchep and Forrestaina and tropical cyclones Damien, Blake and Esther which 
resulted in significant and unforeseen expenditure. The Department received $26.397 million in supplementary funding 
to recoup the unfunded costs mainly associated with these bushfire suppression and State response and recovery 
operations.

2) The decrease in Royalties for Regions (RfR) funds of $2.863 million (43.0%) relates to the funding for the Collie multi-
purpose facility. Receipts from the RfR in the budget included $5.056 million for the Collie multi-purpose facility, 
however during the 2019-20 financial year, only $2.693 million was disbursed from the RfR Community Services Capital 
Fund.

3) Supplies and services increased by $33.737 million (33.1%) compared with the estimate primarily due to significant 
unforeseen expenditure associated with bushfire suppression and State Emergency Service incidents. Major costs 
include: the hire of aircraft, bulldozers, graders and tractors; aircraft (helicopters and fixed wing) used for water 
bombing, reconnaissance and aerial coordination; and heavy vehicles used to create fire breaks.

4) Accommodation increased by $2.334 million (24.1%) compared with the estimate primarily due to higher property 
repairs and maintenance costs, higher utility costs and the recognition of Government Office Accommodation 
arrangements as an operating payment. The budget estimate has these agreements classified as leases under AASB 16 
in accordance with previous advice.

5) Grants and subsidies reduced by $15.062 million (23.2%) compared to the estimate primarily due to underspends in 
the Local Government Grants Scheme, underspends on the National Disaster Resilience Program, reclassifications 
of ESL mitigation grants to services and contracts to recognise the ‘I am Fire’ bushfire awareness campaign and the 
mitigation work undertaken by the Department on Unallocated Crown Land, and an underspend on the ESL Mitigation 
grants program as a result of being unable to conduct mitigation activity due to environmental weather conditions, 
heritage clearance and COVID-19 restrictions.

6) The estimate for GST payments on purchases is understated by $14.581 million (165.8%) in comparison to the level of 
purchasing activity with GST registered vendors, and a correction will be reflected in the 2020-21 budget estimates. 

7) Other expenses is below the estimate by $1.356 million (12.5%) primarily due to lower than estimated workers 
compensation premium payments. 

8) User fee and charges increased by $2.046 million (21.9%) primarily due to fire and emergency attendance and standby 
charges received from the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions (DBCA) for use of the Department’s 
aircraft attending fires where DBCA is the responsible combat agency.

9) Grants and contributions is above the estimate by $5.164 million (40.8%) due to additional contributions from the 
Commonwealth for National Partnerships and from the National Aerial Firefighting Centre. The Department also 
received an additional other grants including funding from the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage for 
undertaking mitigations activities. 

10) The estimate for GST receipt on sales is understated by $1.356 million (108.4%) due to unbudgeted sales that are  
taxable supplies.

11) The estimate for GST receipts from the taxation authority is understated by $13.405 million (177.7%) and is directly 
related to GST payments on purchases as described in note 6 above. The estimate is also understated in comparison 
to the level of purchasing activity with GST registered vendors, and a correction will be reflected in the 2020-21 budget 
estimates. 

12) The increase in Other receipts of $1.864 million (53.9%) includes recovery of costs associated with strike teams 
deployed to assist with the unprecedented bushfire response in the eastern states.

13) Payments for the purchase of non-current assets is below the estimate by $17.305 million (34.1%) as a result of 
underspends in property investment projects and the appliance replacement program. The appliance replacement 
program was impacted by delays in the awarding of contracts and the supply of cab chassis and other parts was 
interrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic with many vehicle manufacturers temporarily ceasing production. 

14) Proceeds from the sale of assets is an unbudgeted item resulting in the variance of $1.391 million.
15) Payments for the principal elements of lease payments is above the estimate by $9.906 million (213.6%) as a result of 

the service agreements for the two Emergency Rescue Helicopters being recognised as leases adding an additional 
$10.0 million in payments against the lease liability.

16) Repayment of borrowings is $3.640 million (59.9%) below the estimate. An adjustment of $3.640 million was undertaken 
at mid year review to revise estimated borrowing limits and repayments to match WATC schedules with estimated net 
borrowings repayments revised in 2019-20 to $2.440 million.

17) Borrowings of $5.924 million relates to funding required for the construction of the Bushfire Centre of Excellence 
Facility approved by Cabinet on 16 September 2019, after the 2019-20 Budget Process.

Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives 
a) The increase in Service appropriation receipts of $27.420 million (177.4%) is due to supplementary funding approved by 

Treasury to met unfunded fire suppression activities for the last two financial years.  
b) The reduction in Royalties for Regions receipts funding of $1.691 million (30.8%) is largely attributable to the transition 

of the south west emergency rescue helicopter service funding from Royalties for Regions to State Government 
appropriation and a Road Trauma Trust grant. 

c) The decrease in grants and subsidies payments of $5.943 million (13.5%) is due to the timing difference between 
recognition of the grant entitlement and payment of cash. 

d) The increase in payments of GST on purchases of $2.706 million (13.1%) is a result of additional expenditure on taxable 
supplies. 

e) Other payments increased by $1.195 million (14.3%) largely due to the increase in workers’ compensation premiums  
and the expensing of additional on-cost provisions. 

f) The increase in grant and contribution receipts of $4.133 million (30.2%) is due to additional grants received for the 
operation of the emergency rescue helicopter service from the Road Trauma Trust. 

g) The increase in GST receipts from the taxation authorities of $2.798 million (15.4%) is a result of recovering additional 
payments on taxable supplies in excess of taxable receipts. 

h) The decrease in payments for non-current assets of $3.957 million (13.4%) is the result of delays in the commencement 
of construction career fire stations and the multi-purpose facility in Collie. 

i) The increase in payment of the principal element of lease payments of $14.544 million is due to the initial application  
of AASB 16 Leases which capitalised the underlying ROU asset and associated lease liability to be repaid over the life  
of the lease agreement. 

j) The increase in proceeds of borrowings of $5.924 million is due to WATC capital borrowings to fund the construction  
of the Bushfire Centre of Excellence.

8.11 Explanatory statement (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements 
8  Other disclosures (continued)
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9 Administered disclosures
The Department is responsible for the administration of the Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements (known as DRFAWA). 
The State and Commonwealth Governments provide the financial resources for a range of relief measures to assist 
communities to recover from an eligible natural disaster event.

Administration of DRFAWA was transferred when all functions and responsibilities of the former Office of Emergency 
Management were transferred to the Department effective from 1 July 2018.

Cost of services 2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Income from administered items

Administered appropriation 244,347 48,622 

Total income from administered items 244,347 48,622 

Administered expenditure

Grants and subsidies 70,417 141,884 

Total administered expenditure 70,417 141,884 

9.2  Explanatory statement for administered items
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 
2019 are shown below.

Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are generally greater than 10% 
and $1,000,000.

Variance 
Note

Estimate  
2020 

($’000)

Actual 
2020  

($’000)

Actual 
2019  

($’000)

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual 
($’000)

Variance 
between  

actual 
from  

2019 and 
2020 

($’000)

Income from administered items

Administered appropriation a 244,347 244,347 48,622 -   195,725 

Total income from administered items 244,347 244,347 48,622 -   195,725 

Administered expenditure

Grants and subsidies 1, b 110,330 70,417 141,884 (39,913) (71,467)

Total administered expenditure 110,330 70,417 141,884 (39,913) (71,467)

The Department administers the payment of claims from government agencies and local authorities with funding of such 
claims being processed pursuant to the Western Australia Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (WANDRRA).  
The administered income and expenditure of the WANDRRA is not attributable to the Department’s services. 

Major estimate and actual (2020) variance narratives
1) The variance between estimated and actual disaster grant expenditure of $39.913 million (36.2%) is due to lower than 

projected claims being received in 2019-20 for eligible natural disasters. This variability is a consequence of works 
completion and lodgement of claims by stakeholders, the uncertainty in the timing of natural disasters and the 
severity of the disasters impact on infrastructure.

Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives
a) The increase in administered appropriation of $195.725 million (402.5%) relates to payments to the Commissioner of 

Main Roads for the restoration of essential public assets expensed in 2018-19 when the grant application was approved 
with cash payment and appropriation to fund settlement occurring in 2019-20. 

b) The variance in grant expenditure of $71.467 million (50.4%) is due to the uncertainty of natural disaster occurrences 
each year and the assistance required for communities to recover from eligible events.

Notes 

Disclosure of administered income and expenditure 9.1

Explanatory statement for administered items 9.2

Administered assets and liabilities 9.3

9.1  Disclosure of administered income and expenditure

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2020  
($’000)

2019  
($’000)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 52,504 -   

Total administered assets 52,504 -   

Current liabilities

Payables 3,475 124,901 

Total administered liabilities 3,475 124,901 

Net administered assets 49,029 (124,901)

Equity

Contributed equity (31,639) -   

Equity transfers from Government as a result of Machinery of Government changes

Transfer of administered item from the Office of Emergency Management -   (31,639)

Accumulated (deficit) / surplus 80,668 (93,262)

Total administered equity 49,029 (124,901)

9.3  Administered assets and liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements 
9  Administered disclosures (continued)
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Certification of  
Key Performance Indicators  
for the year ended 30 June 2020

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of 
the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the reporting period ended 
30 June 2020.

D Klemm AFSM 
Accountable Authority 
9 September 2020

Cover and Contents Corporate StructureExecutive Summary Financial Statements and Performance Indicators Compliance and Other Disclosures Appendices



105104  |  DFES Annual Report 2019/20

20% of community members recognised  
their local natural hazard risks and  
were prepared to take action

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
As legislated in the Bush Fires Act 1954, the FES Commissioner has a 
mandated role to provide community education programs and media 
campaigns. Community members who are prepared to take action when 
faced with a natural hazard emergency will experience less impact and 
recover faster. In an extreme situation, understanding your risk and being 
prepared to act can mean the difference between life and death.

This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the 
effectiveness of our community engagement and media activities which 
aim to:

 • help community members understand their own risk of a natural 
hazard incident

 • support communities be better prepared for natural hazard incidents.

Building natural hazard risk awareness and increasing the community’s level 
of preparedness will take time and is part of our commitment to building a 
safer State.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated from the results of an independent online 
survey. More than 1,000 members of the community from across the State 
responded to the survey.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides a 
baseline from which to measure improvement in communities’ level of 
preparedness.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
This indicator shows 20% of community members recognised their risk  
of bushfire, flood, storm or cyclone and have either prepared an emergency  
kit or written an emergency plan for that hazard.

15%

+5%

Target

Variance

Target

Variance

$11.75 was the average cost to deliver education 
and awareness programs and emergency 
hazard information to the community

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
As legislated in the Bush Fires Act 1954, the FES Commissioner has a 
mandated role to provide community education programs and campaigns. 
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the efficiency 
(cost) of our community engagement and media activities.

Research shows informed communities are better able to manage their 
risks, reducing the impact of natural hazards and other preventable 
emergencies. That is why we invest in a range of education and awareness 
programs able to reach WA’s diverse communities.

Should an emergency occur, our emergency information provided through 
Emergency WA, social media, television and radio helps save lives and 
property.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated as a cost of service divided by the number of WA 
households (as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics in March 
2019).

The target for this indicator is set each year as part of the State 
Government’s Budget Papers #2 process.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported.

A lower than target result is desired as it demonstrates our efficiency in 
managing allocated funding to deliver education and awareness programs 
and emergency hazard information to the community.

What does this indicator show?
This indicator shows we spent 36 cents more per household to deliver 
education and awareness programs and emergency hazard information than 
our target of $11.39. This small variance is attributed to a cost escalation.

$11.39

+$0.36
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72.33% of scheduled operational courses  
were delivered

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the delivery of 
scheduled operational training. These training courses enable our staff and 
volunteers to safely and efficiently provide contemporary services to the 
community.

Because our ability to effectively respond to emergencies requires an 
operational workforce that is trained to respond to incidents, operational 
training is schedule as required throughout the year. Training requests are 
received from Operations Command and all our volunteer brigades, groups 
and units. These requests identify which courses are scheduled and where 
they will be delivered.

Operational training courses are provided through the WAFES Academy, 
the Bushfire Centre of Excellence and delivered remotely across WA by our 
network of qualified trainer assessors.

This indicator includes operational training courses for staff and volunteer 
brigades, groups and units.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of scheduled operational 
courses delivered by the number of operational training courses that were 
scheduled to be delivered.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides a 
baseline to assess the appropriateness of training schedules.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
Our result was lower than target due to restrictions caused by COVID-19 
where face to face scheduled training courses were cancelled from 17 
March 2020 till 15 June 2020. With the social distancing restrictions now 
lifted, we expect to meet the target in the future as face to face training 
courses have recommenced.

80%

-7.67%

Target

Variance

Target

Variance

$9.02 was the average cost to deliver health, 
safety, wellbeing and training services

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the cost to 
ensure emergency responders are not only trained, but physically and 
emotionally able to respond to, and recover from, incidents.

It is essential our people are trained and supported to maintain their 
physical and mental health while providing safe and efficient services to the 
community. That is why we invest in safety, wellness and training programs 
including confidential counselling services, chaplaincy support, mindfulness 
app access, mental health first aid training, injury management support, 
safety and operational response training for both staff and volunteers.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated as the cost of service divided by WA’s population 
(as advised by the Department of Treasury).

The target for this indicator is set each year as part of the State 
Government’s Budget Papers #2 process.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported.

A lower than target result is desired as it demonstrates our efficiency in 
managing allocated funding to deliver critical health, safety, wellbeing and 
training services to our people.

What does this indicator show?
Our cost to deliver health, safety, wellbeing and training services was lower 
than our target of $9.65 due to restrictions caused by COVID-19 where face 
to face scheduled training courses were cancelled from 17 March 2020 until  
15 June 2020.

$9.65

-$0.63
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100% of Level 3 incident Impact Statements 
were completed and endorsed by the 
State Recovery Coordinator

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
Under the State Emergency Management Committee’s Procedure 4, we 
are required to ensure Impact Statements are completed, agreed and 
submitted for each local government impacted by a Level 3 incident.

This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures our level of 
engagement with local governments and communities during and after an 
emergency.

A completed Level 3 Impact Statement endorsed by the State Recovery 
Coordinator enables effective engagement and planning with local 
government to recover from a major incident. In partnering with local 
government, we can ensure the right recovery support is provided to the 
community.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of Level 3 incidents 
with Impact Statements completed and endorsed by the State Recovery 
Controller within 60 days of the closure of the incident by the number of 
Level 3 incidents.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides a 
baseline from which to measure our engagement with local governments 
and communities during and after an emergency.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
This result exceeded our target and demonstrates our commitment to 
engage local governments and communities in the planning for recovery.

80%

+20%

Target

Variance

Target

Variance

87.86% of structure fire reports were  
completed within specified  
timeframes

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the timely 
structure fire incident report completion by career brigades as first 
responders.

We receive approximately 2,000 requests each year from insurance 
companies requiring information about a structure fire, so payments 
can be processed for the structure to be repaired or rebuilt.  Before this 
information can be supplied, incident reports must be completed by the 
attending crew.

When incident reports are completed promptly, it enables buildings to be 
repaired / rebuilt more quickly, aiding recovery and reducing the impact on 
families and businesses.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of structure fire incident 
reports completed within specified timeframes by the total number of 
structure fire incident reports.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides a 
baseline to measure the reduction of the impact of structure fires on 
families and businesses.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
Our result of 87.86% of structure fire reports being completed promptly is 
below target. This can be attributed to structure fire incidents referred to 
the Fire Investigation and Analysis Unit for a determination on the cause 
and origin of the fire. These investigations can be protracted and delay the 
completion of the structure fire incident report. 

90%

-2.14%
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20% of natural hazard events caused a  
significant impact on the community

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
WA is vulnerable to a range of natural hazards such as bushfire, storm, 
flood, tsunami, earthquake and cyclone. Our media and education programs 
reinforce the need for the community to plan and prepare for these events, 
especially in areas prone to these hazards.

This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the 
effectiveness of our activities before a natural hazard event by identifying 
events which do not cause a significant impact on the community.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of natural hazard events 
identified as causing significant impact on the community by the total 
number of natural hazard events.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides  
a baseline from which to measure the effectiveness of our activities  
before a natural hazard event.

A lower than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
The result of 20% was lower than our target of 25%. This shows our 
preparedness before a natural hazard event is making a difference.

25%

-5%

Target

Variance

Target

Variance

94.19% of responses to ESL 1 and ESL 2  
incidents met target times

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
A rapid response to emergency incidents is a critical factor in minimising 
the impact on life, property and the community. 

In 2019 we introduced a new Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system to 
automate the collection of 000 call data.

By enabling the CAD to access live Automatic Vehicle Location data, we are 
now able to locate and mobilise the closest response appliance (by road 
routing) to an incident

This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan in delivering effective 
emergency management.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of incidents in which an 
emergency response appliance arrives on scene within the specified time 
by the total number of incidents.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported and it provides a 
baseline to measure our capacity to respond to incidents within target 
times.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
The result of 94.19% was better than our target of 90% and can largely be 
attributed to improvements in our reporting systems and processes.

90%

+4.19%
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73.27% of structural fires were confined  
to the room or object of origin

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the 
effectiveness of our fire safety education programs and emergency 
response.

Confining a fire limits the damage it causes and its rate of spread. That is 
why our education and awareness programs and social media reinforce 
what to do in the event of a fire and the importance of an early call to 
emergency services.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the number of reported structure 
fires that stay within the space it started in by the total number of reported 
structure fires in which damage was recorded.

A higher than target result is desired.

What does this indicator show?
The result of 73.27% is better than our target of 72% and can be attributed 
to the effectiveness of our fire safety education programs and emergency 
response capacity.

72%

+1.26%

Target

Variance

Target

Variance

$163.20 was the average cost to deliver  
frontline services

Why is this a key indicator of our performance?
This indicator is aligned to our Strategic Plan and measures the cost of 
providing frontline (or community facing) services. These include:

 • incident responders
 • fit-for-purpose response appliances, equipment and facilities
 • advice to the community and industry
 • management or mitigation of risks to prevent incidents from occurring.

How is this indicator derived?
This indicator is calculated by dividing the cost of service by WA’s population 
as advised by the Department of Treasury.

The target for this indicator is set each year as part of the State 
Government’s Budget Papers #2 process.

This is the first year this indicator has been reported.

A lower than target result is desired as it demonstrates our efficiency in 
managing allocated funding to deliver frontline services.

What does this indicator show?
Our result of $163.20 per person to deliver frontline services was higher 
than our target of $154.85. This can be contributed to the drying climate, 
changing emergency management landscape and the overlap of fire 
seasons in the north and south of the State.

$154.85

+$8.35
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Independent Audit Opinion
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Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
The Public Sector Management Act 1994 provides the principles of conduct for all 
public sector bodies and employees. These include compliance with any legislation 
governing conduct, Public Sector Commissioner’s Instructions, Public Sector 
Standards and Code of Ethics.

The Code of Conduct prescribes mandatory standards of behaviour, conduct and 
integrity expected of all personnel. The Code places an obligation on all personnel 
to take responsibility for their own behaviours, conduct and integrity, to work 
cooperatively with the community, and to establish a safe and healthy work place 
and culture.

Our Fraud and Corruption Control Plan gives employees guidance and direction on 
the processes for preventing, detecting and responding to fraud and corruption.

In the administration of DFES during 2019–20, I have complied with the Public 
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public 
Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

I have established procedures to ensure compliance with these standards  
and codes and conducted appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself 
that the statement made here is correct.

D Klemm AFSM 
Accountable Authority 
9 September 2020

Breaches of Standards Review 
Number of breaches lodged:  4 
Number of breaches found:  1 
Number of multiple breaches:  Nil 
Number still under review:   Nil

Compliance
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State Emergency Management 
Committee (SEMC) Remuneration
Fees paid to the members of the SEMC this year were:

Disclosures

Position Name Type of  
Remuneration

Period of  
Membership

Base  
Salary

Gross  
remuneration  

for 2019–20

Chair Dr Ron Edwards Per annum Full year $66,078 $66,078

Deputy Ms Melissa Pexton Not applicable
11 July 2019 to 
17 June 2020

$0 $0

Member Mr Malcolm Cronstedt Not applicable Full year $0 $0

Member Mr Chris Dawson Not applicable Full year $0 $0

Member Mr Darren Klemm Not applicable Full year $0 $0

Member Mr Darren Foster Not applicable
1 July 2019 to 
14 April 2020

$0 $0

Member Ms Linda Savage Not applicable Full year $33,039 $33,039

Member Mr Mark Webb Not applicable Full year $0 $0

Member Dr Andy Robertson Not applicable Full year $0 $0

Member Mr Nick Sloan Not applicable From 19 August 2019 $0 $0

Member Ms Michelle Andrews Not applicable From 19 August 2019 $0 $0

Member Ms Rebecca Brown Not applicable From 14 April 2020 $0 $0

Total $99,117

Unauthorised use of Credit Cards
Our staff hold corporate credit cards where their 
functions warrant. The cardholder agreement, signed 
by staff, includes an acknowledgement they are aware 
of their obligations under the credit card policy. 

During 2019-20 more than 28,000 Corporate Credit Card 
transactions were processed. Of those, 81 instances of 
personal use were identified and in each instance was 
declared by the cardholder. As these matters were noted 
and dealt with promptly, the nature of the expenditure 
was immaterial and the instances were characteristic of 
an honest mistake, no disciplinary action was taken.

Aggregate amount 2018-19 ($) 2019-20 ($)

Personal use expenditure 2,860 6,994

Personal use expenditure  
settled within 5 working days

2,294 6,365

Personal use expenditure  
settled after 5 working days

566 629

Personal use expenditure  
outstanding at balance date

— —
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Advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, 
during 2019-20 we paid $1,139,877 to advertising agencies, 
direct mail and media advertising organisations.

A significant portion (80%) of the amount paid to Carat 
Australia Media Services Pty Limited was for the production 
of the 2019-20 bushfire campaign ‘I am Fire’ and the volunteer 
recruitment campaign.

Advertising agencies $39,493

Albany Chamber of Commerce & Industry $300

Email Media $388

Merredin Community Resource Centre $111

RUOK Limited $666

The Australian Local Government  
Job Directory $1,275

Walpole Community Resource Telecentre $82

Wunderman Thompson $36,671

Direct mail organisations $15

Mailchimp $15

Market research organisations Nil

Polling organisations Nil

Media advertising agencies $1,100369

Carat Australia Media Services Pty Ltd $1,092,174

Facebook $100

Fairfax Media $612

Initiative Media Australia Pty Ltd $4,395

LinkedIn Singapore Pte Ltd $112

The West Australian Newspaper $2,063

The West Australian Regional Newspaper $913

Total advertising and media costs $1,139,877

Disclosures Cont.
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Occupational Safety, Health 
and Injury Management
(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular: 2018–03 Code of 
Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the Western 
Australian Public Sector)

We are committed to providing a healthy and safe workplace 
for our staff, volunteers, visitors and contractors.

In November 2019, our commitment to health and safety 
was strengthened with the Commissioner’s launch of a 
Commitment Statement for a Safe and Healthy Workplace 
to the Senior Leadership and our Health and Safety 
Representatives.

Governance and Consultation
Our Health and Safety Governance Committee meets quarterly 
and includes senior leaders and volunteers. This Committee 
assists in delivering our Health and Safety strategy and 
culture.

Active consultation occurs though our 50 plus Health and 
Safety Representatives across the state, who meet regularly 
to discuss and resolve local safety issues. Where necessary, 
complex issues are escalated to senior management and the 
Governance Committee.

Local area tool box meetings are held quarterly to raise health 
and safety awareness and manage local issues identified in 
online hazard reports.

We hold information sessions throughout the year for Health 
and Safety Representatives, staff and volunteers. This year, 
the sessions covered a range of topics including the proposed 
Work Health and Safety Bill, our PFAS blood testing program 
and health and safety in the COVID-19 environment.

Certificate IV in Work Health and 
Safety
We encourage our Health and Safety Representatives to 
achieve a customised Certificate IV qualification in Work 
Health and Safety. This qualification helps develop a deeper 
understanding of key safety matters, consultation and 
communication techniques and effective workplace health 
and safety management and legislative compliance.

COVID-19
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic we remained committed 
to protecting the people of WA and responding to 
emergencies. 

In February 2020, our COVID-19 Working Group implemented 
our business resilience strategy. Its aim was to protect the 
health and safety of our people and minimise disruption of 
operational response should a COVID-19 outbreak occur. 

In early March 2020, the COVID-19 Working Group transitioned 
to an Incident Response Team.

Some of the measures implemented were:

 • activated our Crisis Management, Pandemic Response and 
Business Continuity Plans

 • secondment of our highly skilled emergency management 
staff and volunteers to various government agencies 
to support the whole-of-government response to the 
pandemic

 • publication of a COVID-19 Operational Directive including, 
Operational Response Precautions, Response to Direct 
Brigade Alarms and Private Alarms Directive, additional 
questioning of triple zero callers and bushfire mitigation.

Changing How We Report on Safety 
Performance
We have remodelled our reports to support  the Safe Work 
Australia ‘Measuring and Reporting on Work Health and Safety 
Report, 2017’.

In changing how we report, we have been able to provide 
greater assurance and insight to senior management and 
our stakeholders on safety. The outcomes of the report gives 
us additional guidance on focus areas to improve workplace 
health and safety, reducing injury and illness.

Our Safety Focus for This Year
Heat stress
A significant risk for our people especially when wearing 
Personal Protective Equipment during operational activities. We 
have set up a focus group to identify a range of strategies to 
help reduce the risk of heat related illness.

Safety incident investigation training  
For Health and Safety Representatives, senior officers and 
managers investigating a safety hazard or as part of an 
incident investigation team.

Volunteer engagement 
We presented at Volunteer Advisory Group meetings and visit 
volunteer brigades to understand the different regions’ unique 
hazards and challenges.

Health and wellbeing program 
Includes occupational medical health screening to assess  
the impact of any exposure to hazardous substances and 
noise. An accompanying video has also been developed.

Safety Management System
An audit of our Safety Management System against ISO 45001 
was completed in 2019.

The audit identified 20 recommendations and actions for 
improvement to the system. Due to the impact of COVID-19 the 
completion of the action items has been delayed. In June 2020, 
10% of the agreed recommendations and action items have 
been finalised.

Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management
Our Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management team 
supports injured and sick staff and volunteers including those 
going through the medical retirement process or those who 
have been diagnosed with cancer under the presumptive 
legislation.

This year there have been 208 workers’ compensation claims, 
an increase of nine percent compared to the previous financial 
year. More than half of the claims lodged relate to body stress, 
and ten percent of claims relate to the post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD). Following a review of 14 PTSD cases where 
individuals successfully returned to work, we are focussing 
on developing strategies to support staff and volunteers and 
reduce the impact of trauma.

Despite a slight increase in the number of claims lodged, the 
number of lost time injury rate declined by 16%.

To improve our capability and increase capacity to respond and 
assist staff and volunteers suffering from PTSD, professional 
development has focused on psychological intervention and 
treatment, including impacts of vicarious trauma, compassion 
fatigue and resilience.

Volunteers
The injury claim process for volunteers has been streamlined 
through our Volunteer Hub. As a one-stop-shop, including FAQs 
and two videos in which volunteers share their injury recovery 
experience, it has received very positive feedback.

University students
We continued to host allied health university students 
undertaking injury management placements. Unfortunately, 
due to COVID-19, we could only host one student this year.  
After working on a range of projects including reviews 
or our injury management procedures and being 
mentored by our industry qualified injury management 
consultants, she was employed by a highly regarded 
provider immediately after her placement.

Cover and Contents Corporate StructureExecutive Summary Financial Statements and Performance Indicators Compliance and Other Disclosures Appendices



129128  |  DFES Annual Report 2019/20

Table of Results
(Public Sector Commissioner’s Occupational Safety and Health Performance indicators 2019-20)

Indicator 2017/ 
2018

2018/ 
2019

2019/ 
2020 Target Comments towards targets

Number of fatalities. 0 0 1 0

While the event occurred while  
on duty at the workplace, it did not 
directly relate to the employee’s 
workplace duties.

Lost time injury/
disease (LTI/D) 
incidence rate.

6.77 6.74 4.97
0 or a 10% 
improvement on the 
previous 3 years

The number of LTI/D claims lodged 
this year declined by 16%.

Lost time injury 
severity rate. 13.21 12.37 20.24

0 or a 10% 
improvement on the 
previous 3 years

A 75% increase in the lodgement of 
psychological claims for this year has 
contributed to lost time injuries over 
60 days.

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within 13 weeks.

84.91% 93.64% 86.21% Target being revised -

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work within 26 weeks.

97.17% 93.64% 89.66%
Greater than or equal 
to 80% return to work 
within 26 weeks

The reduction in the result over 
the last three years is due to the 
increased number and severity of 
psychological injuries requiring longer 
recovery times before attempting a 
return to work.

Statistics have been calculated using RiskCover data and our average FTE data.
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Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP)
We are committed to providing access to information, services 
and facilities for everyone, including those with disabilities, in 
accordance with Section 29 of the Disability Services Act 1993.

In the last year of our DAIP 2015-2020, we completed the final 
six initiatives which were:

 • all policies include the requirements for DAIP compliance
 • all emergency evacuation plans plans take into account 

the needs of people with disability
 • our volunteer hub content editor training includes digital 

accessibility requirements
 • our volunteer online induction includes disability 

awareness
 • our volunteer leadership program includes DAIP 

requirements
 • all our online and print information is available in 

appropriate formats and using plain language.

Celebrating Disability 
Awareness Week
AccessAbility Day is an Australian Government initiative 
connecting employers to jobseekers with disability. 

We were very proud to be a host agency for AccessAbility Day 
and during 2019-20 we hosted nine job seekers at Cockburn. 
They had the opportunity to explore our operations, talk with 
staff across the building and find out how we work.

International Day of People  
with Disability
Mr Bruce Langoulant, Chairperson Disability Services 
Commission was the keynote speaker for our seminar  
titled The Future is Accessible. The event acknowledged  
and celebrated the achievements of people with disability  
with an explicit focus on raising awareness and understanding.

Later, one of our senior firefighters Michael Hatfield shared 
his reasons for becoming Australia’s first Auslan fire safety 
presenter.

“I was aware of a communication barrier between the Deaf 
community and us when we go to an emergency,’ he said. ‘I 
thought I could just learn some very basic signs like — Are you 
okay? Do you have pain? — that sort of thing.

“I started the classes and really enjoyed them. Back at work 
I printed out our Year 3 Home Fire Safety Program and each 
week I took a small chunk and did my best to translate it. 
I would go to class early and sign it to my teacher and she 
would correct things or show me ways to do it better.

“Over eight weeks we finished up with a package that I was 
really happy with and she could understand.”

Michael’s presentation to the Mosman Park School for 
Deaf Children was covered extensively across main-stream 
and social media with overwhelmingly positive community 
reactions.

Afterwards, staff were able to participate in Deaf awareness 
training by Access Plus. They learned about Auslan and how 
to be mindful of Deaf culture, and heard the experiences of 
people who are Deaf or hard of hearing.

Senior firefighter Michael Hatfield explained how  
and why he became Australia’s first Auslan fire safety 
presenter. Click on the image to watch Michael’s 
presentation at Mosman Park School for Deaf Children.
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Recordkeeping Plans
We are committed to continuously improving our 
recordkeeping culture, systems and practices to ensure 
compliance with the State Records Act 2000 (the Act) and 
best business outcomes. The following information is provided 
in accordance with the State Records Commission Standard 2, 
Principle 6.

Recordkeeping Plan
Our current Recordkeeping Plan, RKP2019025, was submitted 
to the State Records Office on 30 July 2019 and approved on 
12 December 2019. In accordance with the Act, the plan will be 
reviewed and re-submitted to the State Records Office before 
12 December 2024.

Efficiency and effectiveness of our 
recordkeeping systems
All staff have access to Content Manager, our electronic 
document and records management system. This enables 
them to capture and manage records in line with our policies 
and procedures. 

This year, together with other State and local government 
agencies, we explored using Microsoft 365 and SharePoint 
Online for recordkeeping. As a ‘Community of Practice’,  
we are investigating the feasibility of using SharePoint  
Online as a platform to manage government records.  
The investigation will conclude next year.

Recordkeeping training and 
induction programs
An internal audit of our records management was completed 
in August 2019. The objective of the audit was to assess the 
effectiveness of our key controls and procedures. As a result 
we conducted a review of our records management training 
and implemented a new information management induction, 
designed in three parts as follows:

 • information awareness and staff responsibilities – 
introduce new staff to our information management 
requirements and their individual responsibilities

 • desktop training – ensure the correct use and 
understanding of Content Manager

 • 3 month review – an assessment to ensure staff are 
using the system correctly and following our information 
management policies and procedures.

Training effectiveness
The effectiveness of our information management training 
is reflected in the increased use of Content Manager across 
DFES, the increasing number of corporate documents stored 
and managed in Content Manager and is reinforced by positive 
feedback from staff.

Freedom of Information (FOI)
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA) gives the public 
the right to apply for access to our documents. To make our 
information accessible to the community, we aim to make it 
available whenever possible.

We received 191 valid FOI applications in 2019-20, 31 less than 
last year. Of these, we finalised 183, including one which was 
partially transferred to another agency. The remaining eight 
applications will be finalised next financial year.

DFES’ FOI statement is available on our website.
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Emergency Services Levy 
collections and allocations
In 2019-20, the Emergency Services Levy (ESL) raised $378 million from ratepayers, $4 million from local government owned 
properties and $25 million from the State Government and non-trading State enterprises. The ESL raised by local government 
area is shown in Table 3 on page 132.

The money collected provides facilities, equipment and resources, protective clothing, uniforms, vehicles and training for WA’s 
fire and emergency services personnel, both career and volunteer across the State.

The ESL also supports specialist activities across the State such as fire investigations, building inspections, emergency planning 
and community safety programs.

Our major services and activities
The ESL raised in 2019-20 has been used to fund the major services and activities shown in Table 1[1].

[1] ESL raised in 2019-20 was $14 million more than the amount expended primarily due to delayed disbursement of ESL funded 
grants and delays to projects as a result of COVID-19. These funds are planned to be spent during the 2020-21 financial year. 
Figures have been rounded to the nearest million and include an allocation of indirect expenditure of $28 million on a weighted 
average basis.

Table 1: Major services and activities funded through the ESL

Career Fire and Rescue Services 
Employed personnel in fire stations across Perth, Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton and 
Kalgoorlie who are response ready for a variety of emergency situations, 24/7.

$129 million

Volunteer Fire and Rescue / Fire and Emergency Services 
The committed volunteers in towns and built-up areas who provide an emergency 
response when it is needed most.

$16 million

Bush Fire Service 
The dedicated volunteers who protect us from bushfires through fire suppression, 
prevention and risk management services and fire safety education in rural and pastoral 
areas.

$32 million

State Emergency Services 
The steadfast volunteers in orange who provide help to the community in a variety of 
situations such as severe weather and search and rescue operations.

$9 million

Marine Rescue WA 
The devoted volunteers along our coastline who protect and save lives at sea.

$7 million

VO
LU

N
TE

ER

 FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVI CES

W

ESTERN AUSTRALIA

Table 1: Major services and activities funded through the ESL

Rural Fire Division 
Improving rural fire management through increased investment in mitigation, 
strengthening relationships with volunteers, and greater collaboration between agencies.

$15 million

Emergency Services Training 
Providing professional development for volunteers and career personnel to enhance their 
operational and organisational skills.

$30 million

Aerial Firefighting and Aviation Services 
Operation and coordination of the aerial fleet that is deployed rapidly to emergency 
incidents, protecting lives and property during the bushfire season.

$15 million

Asset Construction and Maintenance 
Includes construction of fire stations and other facilities as well as maintenance, 
improvement and replacement of facilities, response vehicles and equipment.

$60 million

Volunteer Engagement 
Working with communities and local governments to strengthen relationships  
with our volunteers.

$3 million

Emergency Management, Strategy and Planning 
Research and planning activities to improve our services and inform decisions  
on how we allocate our resources.

$9 million

Health and Wellness 
Enhancing psychological and physical wellbeing for emergency services employees, 
volunteers and their families.

$4 million

Investigation and Compliance 
Determining the cause of fires and ensuring compliance with relevant standards to 
reduce the frequency and impact of emergency incidents.

$5 million

Emergency Response Coordination 
Includes the running of emergency operations centres and the ‘000’ communications 
centre to dispatch and coordinate emergency responses.

$12 million

Technology and Communications 
Improving and maintaining the technology and communications infrastructure behind 
all our emergency services.

$29 million

Special Operations 
Upskilling personnel and maintaining specialist equipment to enhance our emergency 
response across a range of events such as hazardous material spills and building 
collapse.

$5 million

Community Awareness and Education 
Providing information and programs to communities to increase awareness and build  
a more resilient and safer State.

$12 million

(continued)
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Local government area ESL raised $,000

Albany 3,545

Armadale 10,830

Ashburton 402

Augusta-Margaret River 987

Bassendean 2,707

Bayswater 11,045

Belmont 9,762

Beverley 123

Boddington 104

Boyup Brook 115

Bridgetown-Greenbushes 292

Brookton 65

Broome 1,081

Broomehill-Tambellup 69

Bruce Rock 66

Bunbury 4,678

Busselton 2,533

Cambridge 5,589

Canning 20,055

Local government area ESL raised $,000

Capel 1,053

Carnamah 46

Carnarvon 283

Chapman Valley 77

Chittering 239

Claremont 2,932

Cockburn 19,174

Collie 421

Coolgardie 230

Coorow 102

Corrigin 77

Cottesloe 1,784

Cranbrook 73

Cuballing 58

Cue 37

Cunderdin 86

Dalwallinu 88

Dandaragan 334

Dardanup 697

ESL Collected 
The table below shows the ESL raised within each local government area. Please note that it does not include ESL raised in 
relation to property owned by the State Government and non-trading State enterprises.

Table 3: 2019-20 ESL raised by local government

[1] A further $0.454 million of Local Government Grant Scheme funding was allocated towards DFES managed SES and Bush 
Fire Brigades. A detailed breakdown of grant allocations approved to local governments for Bush Fire Brigades and the State 
Emergency Service can be found on our website at www.dfes.wa.gov.au.

Table 2: Grant expenditure from the ESL in 2019-20 Operating 
$,000

Capital 
$,000

Total 
$,000

Local Government Grant Scheme – Bush Fire Service [1] 10,470 13,281 23,751

Local Government Grant Scheme – State Emergency Services [1] 2,393 1,878 4,271

Community Emergency Services Managers 2,306 2,306

Marine Rescue WA 2,331 2,609 4,939

Grants to volunteer entities 896 896

Grants to volunteer representative bodies 601 601

Private brigades 200 200

Bushfire Risk Management Planning 1,315 1,315

Mitigation 5,372 5,372

ChemCentre Hazardous Materials Emergency Response 1,500 1,500

Other 265 265

27,649 17,767 45,417

Grants
A summary of the ESL monies collected for direct distribution in the form of operating and capital grants is reflected below. 
These grant monies are included in the funding amounts shown in Table 1: Major services and activities funded through the ESL. 
Further information on all grant expenditure is available in note 2.2 of the Financial Statements.
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Local government area ESL raised $,000

Murray 846

Nannup 101

Narembeen 54

Narrogin 272

Nedlands 4,446

Ngaanyatjarraku 2

Northam 614

Northampton 281

Nungarin 19

Peppermint Grove 404

Perenjori 40

Perth 26,280

Pingelly 76

Plantagenet 301

Port Hedland 1,106

Quairading 74

Ravensthorpe 154

Rockingham 14,048

Sandstone 14

Serpentine-Jarrahdale 1,624

Shark Bay 66

South Perth 8,164

Stirling 39,904

Subiaco 5,056

Swan 21,682

Local government area ESL raised $,000

Tammin 30

Three Springs 40

Toodyay 269

Trayning 33

Upper Gascoyne 9

Victoria Park 7,537

Victoria Plains 48

Vincent 7,732

Wagin 119

Wandering 35

Wanneroo 26,602

Waroona 250

West Arthur 54

Westonia 21

Wickepin 48

Williams 61

Wiluna 33

Wongan-Ballidu 90

Woodanilling 32

Wyalkatchem 44

Wyndham-East Kimberley 356

Yalgoo 23

Yilgarn 109

York 243

Local government area ESL raised $,000

Denmark 376

Derby-West Kimberley 237

Donnybrook-Balingup 305

Dowerin 52

Dumbleyung 48

Dundas 82

East Fremantle 1,418

East Pilbara 408

Esperance 816

Exmouth 230

Fremantle 8,716

Gingin 475

Gnowangerup 80

Goomalling 60

Gosnells 15,488

Greater Geraldton 3,445

Halls Creek 80

Harvey 1,228

Irwin 245

Jerramungup 103

Joondalup 24,663

Kalamunda 7,301

Kalgoorlie-Boulder 3,463

Karratha 1,532

Katanning 208

Local government area ESL raised $,000

Kellerberrin 78

Kent 40

Kojonup 108

Kondinin 64

Koorda 36

Kulin 53

Kwinana 5,987

Lake Grace 95

Laverton 53

Leonora 149

Mandurah 8,137

Manjimup 546

Meekatharra 78

Melville 17,878

Menzies 52

Merredin 197

Mingenew 33

Moora 139

Morawa 51

Mosman Park 1,577

Mount Marshall 46

Mt Magnet 48

Mukinbudin 39

Mundaring 3,597

Murchison 4

Table 3: 2019-20 ESL raised by local government (continued)
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CONTACT

GPO Box P1174 
Perth WA 6844 

STREET ADDRESS

Emergency Services Complex 
20 Stockton Bend 
Cockburn Central WA 6164

DIGITAL

Email  dfes@dfes.wa.gov.au 
Website  dfes.wa.gov.au 
Phone  (08) 9395 9300

 

This publication is available in other formats on request.
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